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PREFACE

“ Often bave I sighed to measure
By myself a lonely pleasure,
Sighed to think I read a book,
Only read, perhaps, by me.”
WORDSWORTH.
T has been my good fortune during my twenty-four
years in the Army not only to have been constantly
employed on Active Service but to have seen that service
in many lands. I have, moreover, had rare opportunities
of travelling off the beaten track in countries where big
game shooting was plentiful, and have in consequence been
able to indulge in that noble sport at the minimum of cost.
It is in the hope that the story of these events may prove
of interest to a few of my countrymen and, possibly, bring
more clearly before them some still little-known portions
of our vast Empire, that I have ventured to write this book.
If by doing so I may succeed in bringing into the ranks
of His Majesty’s Army even one good recruit I shall not
have written altogether in vain.

The illustrations have been drawn chiefly from my own
descriptions, aided in a few cases by photographs or
sketches, and those of big game shooting and fighting in
Burmah or Ashanti portray the scenes exactly as they
appeared to me at the time.
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To Lady Helen Graham, who has at immense trouble so
kindly illustrated the whole book, I can publicly but ill
express my gratitude, but she may feel sure it is owing to
her that Wordsworth’s lines at the heading of this preface
will not apply.
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FROM KABUL TO KUMASSI

CHAPTER 1

1877-1879
SANDHURST—JULLUNDER-SIALKOTE—THE AFGHAN WAR-RAWUL PINDI

OU cannot put old heads on young shoulders, and

perhaps it is as well. In my own case I very nearly
missed being a soldier because I would not sit down and
tackle the hateful books put into my hands by Army tutors.
Competitive examinations are necessary evils, but of the
trials of life they form a most painful part. At seventeen
years of age I went up for my first examination, and failed ;
this was followed by another a year later, only with no better
success, and I then foolishly and hastily made up my mind
to try other fields. I left England, the tea gardens of Assam
or the coffee plantations of Ceylon appeared to me to be
places where competition without examinations could be
indulged in. However, long second-class passages in third-
class steamers, and the advice of a good father, brought me
to my senses, and I once again found myself in England,
but with only a few months in hand wherein I might still
get my commission, or the age clause would debar me.
Hard work and a good tutor passed me into Sandhurst, and
in the winter of 1877 1 was duly installed as a gentleman
cadet at the Royal Military College. 1 lost two years in
seniority, but those two years were not wasted. If you need
a lesson in common-sense it is as well to learn it young.
Two low-class foreigners were my fellow-passengers in a
filthy cabin below water-line during my first outward sea
voyage of forty days’ duration, and in another passage on an

B
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Italian vessel I had no kind of cabin, but slept on a narrow
seat in the petty-officers’ mess-room, or wherever else I could
find space. The horror of that voyage haunts me still, but
it did me good; I had few belongings when we set sail ;
I had none when we disembarked at an Italian port. An
English hotel-keeper kindly lent me enough cash to get as
far as Newhaven, where I landed with twopence in the
world, and how I arrived in London will not interest any-
one.

Sub-lieutenants had just been abolished at Sandhurst, and
our batch found themselves with no senior term in resi-
dence, consequently we had to make shift for ourselves. The
College, as it then was, has been condemned by many as
obsolete and out of date; but, personally, I have much to
be thankful for to its training. The work was practical and
most interesting, the course was not too long, and discipline
was, perhaps, sufficiently severe to keep us in order. When
I went to Sandhurst 1 knew none of the Staff, but I soon
found a friend in the Governor. It happened thus: A
juggler visited the College, and during his performance
asked if anybody would hold an apple on the palm of his
hand whilst he cut it in halves with a sharp sword. Hap-
pening to be sitting close by, I offered to do so. He passed
the apple round for inspection, and then, placing it on my
open hand, divided it clean with a quick, drawing cut.
Looking at General Napier, our Governor, he said, *‘ This
was once done by a Native juggler in India, and the man
who held the apple was Sir Charles Napier,” then, turning
to me, he made me regret I had ever placed myself in the
position, by addressing me as ¢‘The future Sir Charles.”
However, the General kindly came up to me and said a
few words, which naturally pleased me, and shortly after-
wards I was asked to his house, and subsequently more than
once. Small things in life often tell ; many brother cadets
who met me years afterwards remembered me by this
incident, and with one, at least, began a long friendship
which only ended with his death in the Soudan. The
officers of the instruction staff at Sandhurst were drawn
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from many regiments, and from various arms of the Service,
and even though we cadets were young, and without any
tegimental experience, it was a good field for studying
different characters. On one occasion, whilst surveying, I
showed three roads instead of four at a certain point; I was
severely reprimanded by my instructor, with a remark that I
would never make a soldier, and had evidently mistaken my
profession.

His soul could not soar above a military survey sketch.
Mine was no doubt a bad error, but I had then only been
learning some two months, and I lost much of my faith in
the instructional staff. The news from the theatre of the
Russo-Turkish War, and the heroic defence of Plevna,
and other equally exciting operations then taking place,
kept up our military ardour, and the year 1877 passed and
January, 1878, found me gazetted as a second lieutenant in
the 1ooth Regiment of Foot. The competitive examination
again came into play, and although I passed out forty-fourth
on the list, I found myself fifth out of six gazetted to this
corps, a bit of sheer bad luck. It did not permanently affect
my career, as I finally left the regiment before it mattered
where I stood on its rolls; but it sometimes seems hard
that a mark or two gained or lost should determine seniority,
irrespective of other points, for the greater portion of a
man'’s service.

In February, 1878, a large batch of us froiz Sandhurst
sailed for India in the old troopship /umna, now a thing of
the past. A hammock in pandemonium was my lot, and in
some respects recalled the days of my Italian experiences.
The relations between the naval and military authorities on
that ship were ‘¢ very strained” indeed. 1 know not where
all those in power may now be, but I remember well the
life we Subalterns had to lead ; our military Commanding
Officer, however, was an excellent fellow, and had it not
been for him, I fear most of us might have been landed in
irons, if not at Malta, surely on arrival in India. However,
the voyage ended, and with it began my first scrape in the
Service. I reported myself at the District Staff Office in
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Bombay, and in conversation was given to understand that
officers on first landing were allowed thirty days in which to
report themselves, if their corps were serving in the Bengal
Presidency; I was anxious naturally to join my corps,
which was quartered at Jullunder, in the Punjab, but think-
ing it a good opportunity of having a little shooting before
doing so, and also believing it was quite in accordance with
custom, I took my joining time of a month, leaving no
address, and in due course reported myself at regimental
headquarters. 1 felt I was in for trouble, for as soon as I
entered the mess I was greeted with ¢ Hullo! where have
you come from? We joined three weeks ago. The Colonel
wants to see you.” In fear and trembling I entered the
orderly-room next morning : the interview was short, but it
was very pithy, and I explained as best I could my reasons
for the delay in joining. My Commanding Officer told me
off, and I left barracks glad to find I was not under arrest.
That too came soon enough, but at any rate I was free for
the time being.

In the summer of 1878 my regiment went through a
terrible ordeal. The whole country round Jullunder was
flooded, chiefly owing to the embankments built up for what
was then known as the Scinde, Punjab and Delhi Railway.
These massive erections ran for miles, more or less, at right
angles to the flow of the main rivers from the north, and this
being an exceptionally heavy rainy season, and there being
a totally inadequate number of culverts and openings to let
off the dammed-up waters, as a natural consequence the
embankments and bridges were washed away, the country
flooded, and fever and cholera raged for months.

The tablet in Jullunder church to the memory of eighty-
eight men, women, and children is testimony to the debt
paid by the battalion during the months of its stay in the
place. But the most trying part of our time in this canton-
ment was the fact that, while we were being decimated by
fever and cholera, we were daily witnesses of the lucky corps
passing through on their way to the Afghan Campaign.
Owing to the breaks in the railway, many regiments and
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batteries had to halt temporarily, or at any rate were delayed
at the river crossings, and we unfortunate Subalterns were
wont to ride to the temporary camps, and sadly watch our
more fortunate comrades bound for the front. I cannot
remember a more galling thing in my service than this
bitter disappointment of being so near to the frontiers and
yet not allowed to go on. Sickness long drawn out was the
chief and first cause, but long after sickness had gone, and
we had been moved to a more healthy station, and the
second Afghan War dragged on, it became clear that there
was no intention of sending the 1ooth to add one name to its
colours; and I vowed if ever I had a son, he should go into
a corps whose standards were thick with battle honours;
for there is no truer saying in such matters than, ‘‘ To him
that hath shall be given.”

My first year in the Army seemed beset with perils, for
hardly had I time to congratulate myself on escaping the
results of overstaying my joining leave, when a circumstance
occurred which led to my being placed in close arrest. An
Indian hot weather and close arrest are things each bad
enough in its way, but when taken in combination do not
go for making a Subaltern’s life a happy one. Ah me!
How often have I recalled those ten days. If they did
nothing more, they at least taught me one thing, which
I have endeavoured to the best of my ability ever since to
practise, and that is to try and do whatever you may have to
do by gaining the trust and confidence of your officers and
men, and not by trying to drive them in an overbearing
fashion ; discipline can be as severe when combined with
courtesy and tact as ever it is when exercised arbitrarily and
by red-book alone ; and in hours of real danger, when men
must be left to act by themselves, those who combine
obedience with a real affection for their commander will
easily surpass those who obey merely because it is their
duty to do so.

At Jullunder I first learnt to play polo, a game I ever after
placed first for enjoyment and health. It was in its infancy
then, and ponies were still cheap; notwithstanding the



6 JULLUNDER [CHAP. 1

requirements of the Army in Afghanistan, eighty to one
hundred rupees would buy a good animal, and even we
penniless Subalterns had two or three ponies each. It was
a sign of the change in the times that nearly every youngster
joining the corps, instead of spending his money in less useful
ways, immediately bought a polo pony and thus ensured for
himself an opportunity of unsurpassed manly exercise.

The Field Battery, commanded by a sporting Major, had
tent-pegging weekly, and any of us who wished were given
mounts to compete ; needless to say, we were always there,
only too glad to get the chance. Near the station club was
a large covered swimming-bath, in which three or four of us
Subalterns spent a great part of the hot summer days, and
this was also used by us as the spot where we could best
work up our book Hindustani. It was a quaint sight to
watch the old Munshee, with his spectacles and a very dirty
book, seated on a chair at one end of the bathroom, whilst
we swam about, every now and again emerging from the
water to talk to the old man and listen to his explanations
or stories of some great king who lived centuries before the
world was ever created. His good temper never deserted
him; he drew his pay regularly, and in consequence was
quite content, while the very idea of our preferring cold
water to his droning old fables was sufficient to persuade
him that we were only one lot more of unintelligible white
men. We bathed often and long, and we learnt seldom and
littlee. An old Mahomedan bearer of mine, who acted
generally as head servant over every household department,
and was well known throughout the regiment, caused much
amusement at a ceremonial parade. I had often warned
him that he was never to forget to see that I put my hand-
kerchief in my shirt cuff for parade; failure to see to this,
I explained, would be a most serious matter. Finding I
had on this occasion left my bungalow without it, he ap-
peared near the saluting flagstaff, facing the Brigade drawn
up in line, wildly waving the handkerchief to attract my
attention. I saw the man, but as I was carrying the
regimental Colour I naturally dared not even move a muscle;
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he continued to wave wildly, and seeing one of the military
police running for him, he boldly dashed across the parade
shouting, ‘It is my master’s handkerchief!” Nothing
would stop him; he distanced the Provost and dodged the
Adjutant and finally rushed straight for me, and as quickly
recrossed the parade ground. It was a most amusing spec-
tacle, and although I was admonished I could not say much
to old Mahomed Khan, but he never charged a line of
British bayonets again.

It was during these long summer months at Jullunder that
I first had the pleasure of becoming thoroughly acquainted
with the British soldier. My colour-sergeant, Preston, was
indeed the father of the company. He taught me more of
interior economy and, what was far more important, of the
common-sense way of dealing with the men than I could
have learnt in years under anyone less practical than himself.
The whole company trusted him thoroughly and never dis-
puted his word. I was only too anxious to learn, and even
when I had acquired a certain familiarity with the work of a
company commander I seldom found any necessity for inter-
ference, and, if I did, we generally settled matters to our
mutual satisfaction. I began early to think that the link
which should bind the officer and his men might easily be
strengthened.

There is no one living who can more quickly discern the
difference that exists between himself and his superiors than
the soldier ; but he will seldom, if ever, take advantage of the
fact that his officer is ready to be his comrade, not in name
only, but in deed. Familiarity may breed contempt in any
walk of life ; but call it by what name you please, it must be
admitted that between those whose lives have to be lived
together, whose honour is closely interwoven, and whose
last resting-place may be in the same grave across the seas,
there should be a close friendship, a camaraderie, a mutual
respect which is difficult to describe in words, but is self-
evident to all thinking men. I am not an Irishman, but
I have served long with Irish soldiers; their faults are many,
but their virtues are more. As Adjutant, years after the time
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I am now writing of, I learnt to love them. I was not the
ideal Adjutant of old confidential reports type ; it was not in
me; I never could remember by heart all the innumerable
regulations and complicated movements of a very elaborate
drill book, but I knew something of what I call a better
book, the book of practical life, and I had learnt a good deal
of that from the Irish soldier. I somehow always felt that
the day would come when it would be deemed more to a
man’s credit to use a little common-sense off his own bat,
than to be able to repeat the bayonet exercise by numbers ;
and that the man who could hit the target at 8oo yards, no
matter whether his arms and feet were exactly at this or at
that angle of elevation or position, would be found a more
useful soldier on the day of battle than the man who could
rattle off without a mistake the firing exercises and explain
the ingredients of an obsolete type of gunpowder.

In the winter of 1878-9 the regiment was transferred to
Sialkote, near the Cashmere frontiers; and in the spring of
79 1 had my first independent command, although it was
only a small one. I marched with parties of the gth Lancers,
72nd Highlanders, and my own regiment across country to
the hill station of Dalhousie, and my chief recollection of
it is one which served me as an object-lesson. A native
driver had abstracted a bottle of brandy from the hospital
cart and was brought before me drunk ; not wishing to have
him formally tried I administered a severe cut with a cane
across his back, whereupon, with a wilfulness only under-
stood by those whose lot has been cast in Eastern climes,
he promptly proceeded to lie down and say he was dying.
At first I thought it an excuse to get off a possible second
stroke, but within a few minutes the man had really begun
to collapse to all appearances. Visions of manslaughter rose
before me, as I rapidly recalled similar instances of spite on
the part of our Aryan brothers, and I shouted for our old
friend the bhisty Gungadin with his leather bag of cold
water to recall the man to his senses. I knelt down and was
about to endeavour to reanimate the driver of cattle, when
my trusty servant, Mahomed Khan, who had been watching
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the performance, whispered in my ear, ‘‘ Beat him violently,
or he will surely die.” A happy thought! Seizing the cane
I gave the dying Jehu a very smart whack across his lower
back, and was about to follow it with a second, when to my
intense joy he uttered a yell, sprang to his feet, and dis-
appeared in the long grass. He did not turn up again, but
sent a polite request for his wages. I paid them.

In April I joined my brother in the Indian Medical
Service, and we had a month’s shooting together in the
Sawalik Hills, on both sides of the Ganges, as it leaves the
Himalayas. The delights of that month were somewhat
marred when we found ourselves in the midst of a cholera-
stricken country, for it was near Hurdwar, one of the most
sacred cities of the Hindus, and during the annual fair.
Our servants were nearly all taken ill, and the rivers were
polluted with corpses. I never troubled in those days to
filter water so long as it looked clear, and having one day
selected a nice tree near a clear, running stream, as I
thought far from any signs of man, I proceeded to pitch
camp, and had a long drink. Imagine my horror when,
half an hour later, my servant came and told me there were
two cholera corpses in the stream only a hundred yards
above our tents! It was quite true, and we soon moved,
and, strange to say, I never felt any ill effects ; but I took to
boiling and filtering all our drinking water during the
remainder of the trip. At last matters became so bad that
nothing remained but to make a clean bolt of it, and we
walked thirty-three miles in one day to Dehra Dun, through
as hot an Indian sun as ever I felt in my life. My brother
was himself taken very ill before we reached our destination,
about midnight, without soles to our soft stalking boots,
and absolutely done up. A poor ending to a shoot that
began so well that on my third day out I had bagged two of
the best cheetul (axis) stags I ever shot in India.

I went through my first annual General’s inspection of the
battalion at Sialkote. Besides spending many days in
polishing up everything to catch the eye, my most vivid
impressions of that solemn function are two. The General,
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instead of parading us newly joined Subalterns for inspec-
tion, informed the Commanding Officer that he would like to
see us ride over the Gymkhana Steeplechase course; splendid
idea ; we dubbed the General Officer Commanding a sports-
man; and we did ride, and rode well too, and believe he
gave us a good report. The other incident, I remember,
was that, in calling on the General, one of my fellow-sub-
alterns being particularly anxious to appear smart, but not
being thoroughly skilled in the manipulation of his sword,
tripped over that now much-abused weapon and landed on
his head before the Inspecting Officer. I cannot say how
many of us kept our countenances, but I did not !

In December, 1878, I had been appointed ‘¢ Interpreter in
Hindustani ” to the battalion ; this gave me an extra seventy-
five rupees a month, my first rise in pay, and from that date
on, almost throughout my service I have managed to draw
extra allowances over and above ordinary pay of rank.
This is one great advantage in the Army; if a poor man
chooses to serve abroad, and having so chosen, will set him-
self to do, and do with all his might, whatsoever his hand
findeth to do, he should be able to tide over the hard-up
days.

There are many difficulties to be surmounted, but withal
he may have a good time—polo, shooting, etc., and with
active service now and again to help him, and moderate
mess bills, even a Subaltern can last over till promotion
comes his way. He may have all the sport India or other
lands can provide, but the sine gua non is that soldiering must
come first, and he who lives on these principles will find he
can generally push his own way, and even make his mark.
Soon after being appointed interpreter I had to accompany
my Commanding Officer, who was then acting as Brigadier,
on a visit to Jummoo, the capital of Cashmere. The
Maharajah received us most hospitably, and we were royally
entertained. Not the least useful result of my having
passed the higher standard examination was that in return
for interpretation of His Highness's conversation, I was
presented with a permanent shooting pass for Cashmere—



1879] A BOLD EXPERIMENT I

a document I found most useful thereafter, and by the aid
of which I obtained many a day’s excellent sport.

Three of us Subalterns ran grave risks of getting per-
manently disliked by no less important a person than our
Adjutant, for one day, thinking we might test our bare-
backed riding powers late after guest-night at mess, we all
mounted his favourite pony, which was waiting to convey
its master home, and galloped to our quarters without a fall.

The Adjutant, however, took it in good part, and said
nothing about it. Our Commanding Officer also forgave us
on another occasion when, at 2 a.m. on a dark night driving
home in a pony cart, the joint property of us same three, we
crashed into his carriage as it was about to turn into his
gate ; we were young, and meant no harm ; I was severely
knocked about, but turned up next day to ride in a jump
race, which I won, so all ended well.

The first phase of the Afghan War of 1878 had ended
with the signing of the Treaty of Gundamak. The wise-
acres told us India would now again enjoy profound peace,
and most of the regiments and batteries had returned to
their cantonments, when the news of the murderous attack
on our Resident, Sir Louis Cavagnari, and his brave com-
panions at Kabul, in September, 1879, turned all eyes once
more to the North-West frontiers, and again troops began
to pour towards Peshawur, Kurram, and Kandahar. I had
no intention this time of being left out of the campaign, and
determined to get there by hook or by crook. I knew it was
no good applying to my Colonel, as we were not overstocked
with officers, and I had not passed my examination for
promotion to Lieutenant; I had no friends at Simla, or even
at Division headquarters, and in short my chances were very
small, but I made up my mind to go, and that at once.
‘“There is a tide in the affairs,” even of friendless Sub-
alterns, and the plunge I took floated me on the sea of
active service, on which by good fortune and hard work
I have managed to remain most of my soldiering days. -
Before taking any final action, however, I thought I would
have one more try with my Commanding Officer. The
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results were as I expected. ‘‘No, you are too young”;
‘““You are not qualified for promotion.” 1 was very junior.
‘““They can only reprimand me,” I said to myself, as I
walked to the telegraph office with a telegram in my hand
addressed to one of the highest in authority at Simla. It
was to no one by name, but there was the official designa-
tion big and clear, and my humble signature at the end.
As I handed it over to the clerk, a young soldier, much
overworked in those busy times, I almost imagined he
chuckled to himself as much as to say, ‘‘ You have put your
foot in it this time!” I asked to be sent on service, in any
capacity and on any pay or no pay. As I left the office I
thought if this succeeds I shall erect a monument to my
benefactor. I said nothing for two days, but during that
time I unostentatiously packed what I considered an ample
service kit, and also locked up my very few valuables and
smart uniform (which, by the way, I never saw again), and
on the third day, whilst at mess, a telegram was handed to
the Colonel ; every telegram during those few days I im-
agined must refer to my application; he looked my way,
and I caught his eye, feeling sure that this time it concerned
me. Joy of joys! it was an order directing me to proceed at
once to the Front and report myself at Peshawur.

I never said a word about my private telegram to a soul.
I was quite overcome with fond anticipations. Active
service l—the pomp and circumstance of war!—no matter
if I had only to drive mules or lead camels and feed the
fighting line, was I not going to ‘‘cross the frontier,” and
see with mine own eyes the famous Khyber and the historic
Jugdulluk Passes, and beyond those lay the, to me almost
mythical, city of Kabul. It all seemed a dream, and the
excitement of even the thoughts of being under fire stamped
that evening on my memory as few others have ever been
stamped since. Over and over again have I had the
pleasurable order, ‘‘ Proceed at once on Service to——,” but
none ever came up to that first; by the time I again wore
Service khaki I had learnt the reality ; the joy of campaign-
ing no doubt remained and I hope ever will, but the ‘ pomp
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and panoply ” can only be really thoroughly imagined once.
That night I was the envied one of the Subalterns; polo
ponies, traps, guns, etc., had all been disposed of before
midnight, and next day with one servant, and I verily believe
the smallest amont of kit ever taken on service, I reached
Wazirabad, the nearest railway station in those days to
Sialkote. The rail ended at Jhelum, which I reached next
day, only to find myself one of some fifty officers without
any means of onward conveyance to Peshawur.

The dak garris (four-wheeled lumbering conveyances
drawn by two horses) were engaged for many days to come ;
the unfortunate Superintendent was at his wits’ end and
could only tell me that I might possibly get off in seven
days’ time, as a General, several Colonels, and other most
important people, not to mention ordinary Field Officers
and Captains by the score, were all booked before my
arrival. The haunting fear possessed me that unless I got
across the frontier before the real story of how I got my
orders leaked out, I should be ordered back ; and it was by
- no means a groundless fear either. Meantime, having no
camp equipage of my own, I wandered into what appeared
to be an empty tent with only a lantern as its furniture.
Depositing my kit and leaving my servant to sit on it till
my return, I hurried to the post office and interviewed the
postmaster. ‘‘No, no, sir, impossible; you cannot get
away for several days.” It was not his fault, but how I
longed to do him some mischief.

As I walked into the verandah my eye caught a large case
of heliograph instruments carefully packed and marked,
“For the First Division, very urgent, to be forwarded
without delay.” How I wished I were a Signalling officer.
Happy thought! All is fair in war. I would try the post-
master again, so walking in with the most imposing air I
could assume I asked him sharply, ‘ Do you ever mean to
send on these Heliographs? Are you aware of their
urgency? You will probably hear more of this before long.”

In the heated oppressive room stood three or four other
officers, and I almost fancied they looked at me with a
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somewhat awed expression. Who could I be?—perhaps
Signalling officer to the Advanced Brigade—the man who
would receive and flash the first news of the first battle ; and
I really began to feel quite an important person. The post-
master tried to explain that the packages I referred to would
be sent early next day, but I had my foot on the first rung
of the ladder and I did not mean to descend. ¢‘Sir,” I said
almost fiercely, ‘‘if those Helios are delayed till to-morrow,
the consequences may be most serious; they must go at
once.” I had hit him hard. I found afterwards they really
were urgent and he had received orders not to delay them.
To cut a long story short, I left Jhelum that night by special
mail van, and the inside of that van was packed full of
Helios, whilst I and my servant sat on the roof. I waved a
fond adieu to my score of Captains and Field Officers and
was thankful that the darkness screened me from the wrath-
ful Colonels and General whom I had managed to leave
behind. A tedious journey over roads churned into
ploughed fields by the enormous volume of steady traffic
caused by the advance of an Army brought me to Rawul
Pindi, the headquarters of the Division, a place I particu-
larly desired to avoid lest the eagle eye of some Staff officer
might detect my presence away from my own regiment.
A few hours’ halt, a judicious bribe, and then on again, and
now nothing to stop me till I reached Peshawur, the very
threshold of the promised land. After a certain amount of
persuasion, not unmixed with much vile abuse and many
blows, the overworked ponies started off at a gallop and I
was on my way to glory. What fate possessed my vener-
able driver I cannot say, but I was just going off into a sort
of doze, as far as was possible when perched on top of a
jolting prehistoric four-wheeler with barely sufficient room to
sit down in, when I found myself suddenly hurled into
space, and with a groaning, crashing noise the entire
concern toppled into the ditch; driver, ponies, wheels all
travelling in different directions. How we were not all
killed I never understand to this day, but my first thoughts
were for those precious Heliographs. They were certainly
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there, but knocked to bits—lids off the boxes, five-inch
mirrors reflected under the moon, and tripods mixed up in
the wheel spokes. My journey seemed at an end for the
time, but perseverance is a great thing.

Leaving my servant to sit again on my kit till I returned,
I took the old coachman and the frightened ponies back with
me to Rawul Pindi. As we wearily trudged along the four
miles of road, knowing that a native prefers everything told
to him to be in the form of a story, I told him of a certain
great man who was once upon a time upset by an exceed-
ingly idiotic driver, and how that driver had to pay for a
very heavy consignment of Government instruments—so ex-
pensive that when he was quite old and at the point of death
he found he had only paid one tenth of the whole amount,
and the last thing he learnt on this earth was that his
entire family had been imprisoned till the debt had been
fully paid. Then having fairly frightened him re that
driver’s pension (for he himself was a Government servant)
I told him how that great man pardoned the coachman and
gave him a handsome present, because the coachman got a
new carriage and finished his journey. The sequel of the
story was that between us, and abetted by two other Govern-
ment servants, who could not resist a little silver, we
dragged a new four-wheeler out of the yard by a back road
(it had been placed there for the use of two passengers early
next morning), smuggled out a set of harness, placing our
own now tattered stuff in its place, and putting in our
steeds which had recovered their equilibrium, soon found
ourselves back at the scene of the wreck. No help for it,
the now useless Heliographs were packed on the top of the
dak garry and I slept comfortably inside for the night. I
found it all very difficult to explain on arrival at Peshawur,
but it really was no fault of mine, and what happened after-
wards I know not. A few days later I had crossed the
frontiers and was beyond recall. Had I remained at
Jhelum waiting my turn for a van I might have found
myself back doing Subaltern-of-the-day at Sialkote—for my
story by this time was known.



CHAPTER 11
1879~1880

THE AFGHAN WAR—JELLALABAD—FORT BATTYE—)JUGDULLUK——
KABUL—BACK TO INDIA

N 7th October, 1879, I first set foot in an enemy’s
country. The glorious sensation of entering the
Khyber Pass and gazing up at its forbidding heights
cannot easily be forgotten. Those craggy tops which had
looked down on the hosts of Moslem and Hindu, which had
later, in 1842, seen Pollock’s avenging army marching to the
relief of Jellalabad, held by the gallant Sir Robert Sale, and
still more recently had witnessed yet another British Army
forcing the defiles near Ali Musjid and advancing to
Gundamak, appeared to me full of personal interest ; for my
father had been with Pollock and had taken part at the
action at Tezeen, marched through the Pass of Jugdulluk
and witnessed the destruction of the great bazaar at Kabul.
All these names were familiar to me as a boy, for I had
often heard him tell the story of the campaign of 1842 ; and
now, thirty-six years after, it was my own good fortune to
be following in his footsteps. However, there was little
time for reflection, for we youngsters attached to the Trans-
port Department had far more than enough work to do.
Before leaving Peshawur I called on the General Officer
Commanding the force, Sir Robert Bright. I had known
his family at home, and he very kindly got me sent on to
Jellalabad as a start, otherwise I certainly should have been
stopped at Ali Musjid, and been out of any fighting that
took place. The confusion that existed in the Transport at
that time was something that can hardly be comprehended
now, when the Indian Transport forms such a perfect portion
of a Field Army. I shall never forget my feelings when, on
16
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being ordered to take over my first convoy of mules at
Peshawur, I proceeded to the Transport lines and reported
myself to the officer in charge. Thousands of mules, camels,
donkeys, ponies, and other descriptions of four-footed beasts
were picketed on a vast plain. The officers were doing all
they could to evolve order out of chaos, but it was a
Herculean task. Constant strings of fresh animals and carts
of every description seemed to arrive from the south, and
each animal had to be fed, watered, and fitted with saddlery,
harness, etc, ; there appeared to an ordinary onlooker to be
no sort of system. Systems cannot be evolved in a day.
Officers who had never had experience with mules; Non-
commissioned officers who knew absolutely nothing about
animals; native drivers who found themselves placed in
charge of three or four quadrupeds of which they had a holy
terror ; contractors whose chief object it was to make as much
as they possibly could, in the shortest space of time, out
of a long-suffering Government ; Pathans, Sikhs, Punjabi-
Mussulmans, Rajputs, Hillmen, Madrasis, Parsees, and fifty
other kinds of living and moving beings, formed a very
Babel. I waited for some hours before I could get the
animals I was to be in charge of, and wandered about the
plain. Those hours gave me my first lesson in Transport
work, a duty which I was destined to perform in many
subsequent campaigns. At last I had handed over to me a
certain number of animals and found myself on the road to
Jumrood, the first stage towards Kabul.

When well clear of Peshawur cantonments I halted my
convoy and mustered the Jemadars and Dufadars (Non-
commissioned officers). The chief man of these was one of
the smartest rascals (as I subsequently discovered) I have ever
met. He was, however, a really clever fellow, knew all the
ropes, and at once assured me everything would go well so
long as I thoroughly trusted him. I knew a good deal of
the natives of India, and at once decided to make him the
nominal chief of the gang, but at the same time never to
trust him out of my sight. The first bit of information he
gave me was that my private servant was an old acquaintance

C
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of his, and was a notorious rogue. I told him I was con-
vinced, if he was a friend of his, he must be a rogue, which
temporarily rather disconcerted him ; but he proceeded to
offer to find me a really good man from amongst the drivers
under his command. I must own he turned out to be quite
right, and my factotum soon after deserted me, taking with
him my few cooking pots, and the ‘‘really good man " took
his place. This latter confided to me that he had gone to a
railway station, somewhere near Delhi, to meet a friend of
his, who was proceeding with animals for the Front to
Peshawur, and that whilst he was waiting he was forcibly
seized by two policemen on the platform, and on arrival of
the train bundled into it, and thus, without further notice,
he found himself an enlisted Government muleteer, never
having seen a mule in his life before. Such stories were rife
during the war, but there is no doubt in many cases men had
been shipped off to the Front, much against their wishes,
and his might have been a genuine case; I had no wish to
make further inquiries, however, and he turned out a most
valuable and honest servant. On arrival at my first camp
ground I discovered that iron pegs had been omitted from
my line gear, and as the ground was horribly stony I had no
means of picketing the mules; in consequence I spent most
of the night in wandering round the animals, rousing up
sleepy drivers, and thus keeping the convoy together. I
was a new hand then ; ever after that I had sufficient pegs
and a few to spare.

I tried in vain to get picketing pegs next morning, but
failed ; yet on arrival at the second day’s camp I found ample
new pegs, the head Jemadar, my ‘‘smartest rascal,” had
found them. I made no inquiries, it would have been of
little use had I done so, but in reply to my query, ‘“ Where
did these pegs come from? ” I received his reply, given with
evident self-satisfaction, ¢ The convoy preceding us is in
charge of a very careless Jemadar, who left these behind him;
so to save Government loss I brought them along with me.”
I was already beginning to know the value of a rascal on
service.
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At Jellalabad my Chief was an officer of the Indian Army,
who had for many years been in the Civil employ in the
Madras Presidency, but being anxious to have a turn of
active service, had volunteered, and been posted to the
Transport Department, at that time a sort of refuge for the
destitute. He was an excellent companion, but made no
secret of his reasons for coming to the country, and my last
recollection of him was that he managed to get safely through
to Jellalabad a convoy of beer, at a time when such a luxury
was almost unknown. He had his own methods for ensuring
himself rest at certain periods of the day, and when he did
not wish to be disturbed with letters, or other similar
annoyances, he invariably used to put up a printed notice
outside his tent to that effect. No one worried him at such
times, for he was most generous, and always offered refresh-
ments to any passer-by.

Moving gradually up the line of communications, I found
myself at Fort Battye, a small stone-walled Post on the plain
of Fatiabad. There I remained some months, being most
of the time the only British officer present.

I was officially warned by those in authority not to
venture far away from the Post without a strong escort, but
I soon gained the confidence of the neighbouring people,
and made a special friend of one Musa Khan, a Malik, and
after that I frequently rode from ten to twelve miles by
myself into all the adjacent valleys. My instructions were
to lay in a stock of as much Indian corn or other food-stuffs
as possible from local sources ; and to do this properly it was
absolutely necessary for me to move about, and not remain
shut up in my small Fort. I was in the habit of taking
money in my pocket, and personally paying for the stuff
in the villages, instead of trusting to native subordinates
to do so, and on no occasion did the vendors fail me in
delivering it.

One day I was the guest of Musa Khan, who lived many
miles away, and I rode out alone to his village. The whole
country was intersected with watercourses and hedges, and
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offered capital jump riding. I took as I thought the right
direction, but hopelessly lost my way, and had just decided
to return to Fort Battye as best I could, when I saw two
armed men riding at full speed in my direction. I had a
revolver, but not being at all anxious to meet the two fierce-
looking ruffians, and, as I have said, being quite out of my
reckonings, I thought discretion better than valour, and
being mounted on a right good horse I started at full gallop
across country. I was keeping easily ahead of my pursuers,
when 1 looked round and saw one of them land head-
foremost in a ditch; the other stopped, and so did I, when
I heard the voice of my would-be host shouting to me. 1
soon rode back, and found it was he and one of his relatives
who had noticed me riding in a wrong direction, and had
come out to show me the road. We all laughed heartily,
and the wily Pathan, looking at my Waler, remarked,
‘“Some day we may manage to get hold of that.” They are
marvellous horse thieves, but Musa never got the mare.
This visit was a most interesting one for me, as I saw then,
for the only time, an Afghan lady without a veil over her
face ; it was the old Malik’s daughter. After I had entered
the courtyard of the small high-walled enclosure I was
given a seat, and a door opened, when the girl came forward
with a dish of food and placed it in front of me. I bowed
my thanks and would fain have spoken, but visions of
Afghan methods of sometimes treating guests tied my
tongue. She came once again with water and then dis-
appeared, and I saw her no more. She was a very good-
looking girl indeed, slight, and with bright eyes. I said
nothing, but my eyes involuntarily turned to the door more
than once. As I was leaving Musa Khan said, ‘ Now you
know I am your friend.” 1 tried to get him to invite me
again, but never succeeded, and very shortly afterwards I
left Fort Battye, and had hardly done so before the Fort was
attacked by the enemy during the night, and a British officer
and some men killed. A few days later old Musa Khan
sent me a sheep and a message saying, ‘You are my
friend ; why did you go away? Had you stayed, etc., etc.”



1879) SENTRIES AND CAMP-FOLLOWERS 21

Whether he himself joined in the attack I never learned, but
I verily believe, even though he did, he would have sent me
warning had I still been there.

Lying awake at Fort Battye at nights it was always a
source of great amusement to me to listen to the native
sentries on duty. The Indian camp-follower is a curious
creature ; he is absolutely devoid of all fear as far as being
shot at is concerned ; he will wander beyond Fort walls or
camp limits, no matter how dangerous it may be to do so;
whether a night attack is expected, or even if he has seen his
own comrades killed by wandering marauders, it is all the
same to him ; he will go beyond bounds if the spirit moves him,
and in the same way he will leave the line of march and risk
any danger, if it behoves him to do so. At Fort Battye it
was quite impossible to stop them, and after we had been
fired into several times one night from a small neighbouring
hill, I gave strict orders to the sentries to fire without fail at
anyone approaching, and who would not reply or give an
explanation. But the Native soldier understands the camp-
follower better than we do, as one of them said to me, ¢ Sir,
I know the sound of a drabi (mule driver) or kahar’s foot-
fall—there is no mistaking it.” ‘But,” I said, ‘‘supposing
he makes no noise.” ‘‘Oh!” came the quick reply, ‘“I can
tell them by the smell.”

There was no arguing with so precocious a person.
Night after night have I laughed at the conversation
between sentries and camp-followers.

First would come the clear ‘“ Halt ! who come dar?” No
reply. Again the sharp challenge would ring out; perhaps
no reply, perhaps a sort of mumble. Then would follow the
sentry threatening to fire if he did not at once receive full
and ample proofs of the approaching individual. But our
apathetic follower would meantime have approached to
within a few paces of the wrathful sentinel, when he would
be allowed to pass under a shower of choice Billingsgate,
and a threat of certain death if he ever repeated his folly.

One day the late Amir, Yakub Khan, passed through on
his way to deportation in India. Great precautions to avoid
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any attempt at rescue had been made, and he was escorted
by a detachment of the 6th Dragoon Guards.

From Fort Battye I went on to Jugdulluk, the scene of
the destruction of great part of our retreating Army in 1842.
Kabul had been meantime besieged by thousands of tribes-
men, and Sir Charles Gough had hurried up with a brigade
to its relief. The sist Light Infantry, and that splendid
regiment the 4s5th Sikhs, were at Jugdulluk, or in Flying
column in its vicinity. The 45th were then commanded by
Colonel Armstrong, about as fine a soldier as ever stepped—
‘“Giant” Holmes, who, later, left the service, much to the
regret of every Sikh in the Punjab, and now lives in
Devonshire, was one of his Subalterns—and I have never
before or since met a Native corps who could surpass
‘¢ Rattray’s Sikhs ” in anything. Dining at their hospitable
mess one night, I was being chaffed for overloading my
‘‘half-starved mules” (as a matter of fact they were very
well fed then). I remarked they were only asked to carry
a hundred and sixty pounds, or two ordinary men’s loads ;
whereupon I was at once offered a big bet that I would not
carry half a mule load, eighty pounds, from Jugdulluk to
Sei Baba, the next Post towards Kabul. The distance was
over ten miles, and a very considerable and long kotal, or
hill, had to be negotiated.

I took the bet, and the Sikhs gave me an escort next day.
The difficulty was how to carry the load ; so I started with a
sack of corn, with two pounds overweight to allow for drop-
pings. I won my bet, but my back and shoulders were raw
for weeks after; however, I was able to maintain that my
mules were not overloaded. The Brigade to which I was
attached was commanded by Brigadier-General Arbuthnot,
Royal Artillery (afterwards General Sir Charles Arbuthnot),
and he was much amused.

I did not again meet him till ten years after in Mandalay,
when he was Commander-in:Chief of the Madras Army, but
he remembered the incident, and asked me if I still tried
to save my Transport animals by carrying half their loads
on my back. At Jugdulluk we never failed to take every
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advantage of having a day’s shooting ; sesi (hill partridge)
abounded, and many a hard tramp was well repaid by
several brace of birds, which always proved a welcome
addition to the pot. One of our amusements in those days
was to ride without any kind of escort to Lutabund, the
second stage towards Kabul, and back, frequently over
roads covered with snow and ice, and we only stopped this
foolish practice after two officers, who were riding out one
day to the kotal, were fired on, and one of them killed,
within a short distance of the Fort.

It was here I had my first experience of a night march ;
just before dark one night a message was received that Sei
Baba would be attacked early next morning, and we were to
send a small mobile Column to its assistance at once! We
started within an hour; snow lay thick, and a biting cold
wind swept the barren hills, and it was all one could do to
keep up the circulation of the blood ; but we floundered on,
many of the Native muleteers having to be forced to keep
moving, and even then we lost three or four, who perished
by the roadside. We arrived before dawn, when, to our
disgust, we found the enemy had changed their minds on
learning that we were coming. On this and similar occa-
sions my right-hand man was always Naik Sundar Singh
of the 45th Sikhs, now Subadar (Native officer) in the 36th
Sikhs. He was the best type of Sikh, and of absolutely
untiring energy. We have kept up a correspondence on
and off ever since. He has since been decorated with the
Order of British India.

Early in 1880 I was transferred from the Khyber to Kabul,
and found ample work and scope for energy. Our chief was
Colonel R. C. Low (now General Sir Robert Low, G.c.B.,
commanding the Forces in Bombay). I was placed in
charge of all the equipment of the Transport of the Field
Force—a very big job, but I had a free hand, and a chief
to work for whom was a genuine pleasure.

The duties were multifarious, and embraced the repairing
of the saddlery and harness of the Transport of a small
army corps, the manufacture of new saddlery for all local
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Remounts, the purchase of leather, rope, iron, etc., and all
the materials for use in the above work, and most difficult
of all, the payment of enormous bills. There was a very
large workshop in Sherpur cantonments where hundreds of
workmen from India and many local people were employed,
and altogether it formed a sort of miniature Pimlico and
Woolwich Arsenal rolled into one. Night after night, when
work was at high pressure, I was unable to leave the shops,
but lay down to sleep on the masses of blankets and wool
piled up in one of the store-rooms. My chief native assis-
tant was Lala Dhunput Rai, a Hindu gentleman of Pesha-
wur; he was a master-hand at everything concerning
Transport and its equipment, and the hardest working and
most indefatigable man you could find anywhere. I formed
the highest opinion of his abilities and character, and we
became good friends. His early promise did not belie him ;
he accompanied me years after on another campaign, and
yet again when I went to Burmah, in 1885, I specially asked
for, and obtained, his services. For his excellent work in
that campaign he was made a ‘‘ Rai Bahadur,” a step in the
Indian Knighthood, and later obtained the command of the
Jeypur Imperial Service Transport Corps. He commanded
that corps in the Tirah Campaign ; represented the Indian
Army at the Queen’s Jubilee, and has been promoted *¢ Sirdar
Bahadur” and a Companion of the Order of the Indian
Empire. 1 give his career, as I felt sure from the first that
real worth such as his would without fail receive its recog-
nition.

In May, Sir Donald Stewart, after inflicting a severe
defeat on the enemy at Ahmed Khel, arrived in Kabul from
Kandahar, and assumed the supreme command of the
Northern Afghanistan Field Force. 1 well remember a
great parade held outside Sherpur, when several thousand
well-seasoned, war-worn British and Native troops, most of
whom had been campaigning since the commencement of
the first phase of the war, were drawn up for inspection.
I doubt if ever a British force surpassed, either in appear-
ance or physique, those splendid soldiers, and, personally,
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I have never again seen so genuinely fine a body of men.
Short service has, under present conditions of European
armaments, become an absolute necessity ; but for a cam-
paign such as that in Afghanistan there could have been no
comparison between the worth of a regiment of seasoned
troops and one composed of young lads. Such specimens
as made up the ranks of the gth Lancers, 67th Foot, and
72nd and 92nd Highlanders, and others, will probably never
be surpassed again in our own or any other army.

For those who had no very particular work to do, time
must have hung heavily in Kabul; personally, I never
found the days long enough, and the occasions were very
rare when with three or four others I managed to get a few
hours’ snipe-shooting on the Butkhak road. Birds were
numerous, and the bags generally very large. Polo was
easier to indulge in, as the ground was not far from the
cantonments.

Lieutenant Lugard, of the gth Foot, was quartered with
his regiment in Kabul, and it was there that a friendship
began which has steadily increased as the years rolled on.
Since those days Fred Lugard has served in many a cam-
paign, been explorer, soldier, and geographer, and is now
a K.C.M.G., C.B,, and D.S.O., and High Commissioner
of Northern Nigeria, where, with his singleheartedness of
purpose, his straightforward character, and his untiring
zeal, he is creating a new and splendid possession of the
Crown. We served together afterwards in Central India
and in the Soudan, and it was in 1897 that at his call I left
India and went out to the Niger, as I shall relate later on.

Looking at my diary of 1879 recalls one or two amusing
incidents of life in Sherpur. One morning, being much
annoyed with a servant, I seized the first thing I could lay
hands on, which was an old Snider cartridge, and threw it
after him as he ran round a corner, when, to my surprise,
the cartridge struck a wall and exploded. The servant ran
direct to the Staff Office and reported that I had deliberately
fired at him with my revolver with intent to kill him. When
confronted with me he flatly denied ever having made any
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such statement, and appealed to me for protection from the
Staff Officer, to whom he had reported.

A story was also related to me of a camp-follower who had
to be whipped for some offence, and before he received his
punishment, he appealed to the Provost-Sergeant to be let
off, as he was a Christian ; as his request could not be enter-
tained on these grounds, the law took its course, and as each
stroke was administered our Christian friend gave a yell and
quoted some text from Scripture. As he received the twelfth
and last cut he gave rather a louder howl and shrieked
‘“Amen!”

It was a serious matter for him, but most of those present
could not refrain from laughing.

In August, news reached Kabul of the disaster to our
Brigade at Maiwand. What chiefly concerned us youngsters
was who would be the lucky ones to accompany the relieving
Force. I was informed by Colonel Low that as I had the
accounts of a very large establishment to settle up, I could
not possibly go, but must return to Peshawur. My bitter
disappointment could not be softened even by his assurance
that I should not be forgotten, and I missed this great
chance! However, there was no help for it, and on my
return to my regiment I had the satisfaction of receiving
a copy of a letter from him to my Commanding Officer, in
which he was good enough to say ¢‘that the Transport was
in a position to despatch, thoroughly equipped, the Force for
the relief of Kandahar at so short notice, was owing in
a great measure to the excellent manner in which Lieutenant
Willcocks had done his work.” High praise, indeed, but
it took me many years to get over the fact that notwithstand-
ing I had honestly slaved for months at a job not very
interesting in itself, I was not allowed to march from
Kabul to Kandahar.”

It had previously been decided that our army should
retire from Kabul to India, holding only a portion of the
Khyber Pass, and negotiations were in progress with Abdur
Rahman, who later became Amir of Afghanistan. Our
guards in Kabul City had been withdrawn into cantonments,
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and the Kotwali, and other buildings, were occupied by
Afghan soldiers of sorts. Orders had been issued that
officers and others were not to visit the city on any account.
When it became known that 10,000 men were to march to
Kandahar, 27¢ Ghuzni, 1 was directed to purchase for
mule gear all the spare rope and other articles that I could
lay hands on. As purchases from the city merchants had
ceased some days previously, I saw no means of complying
with the demands of regiments unless I personally went into
Kabul itself.

At any rate I hoped no one would hear anything about it,
and so taking my orderly, a Native Cavalry Sowar, and two
mules, I proceeded to the shops I had often dealt with. As
I entered the city I saw plainly that conditions had con-
siderably changed since the withdrawal of our own soldiers.
At least I had always previously met with ordinary civility,
whereas now swaggering soldiers and budmashes of all
sorts jeered at me, and at last a large crowd gathered round
and began to abuse and menace my small party, sticks were
produced, and one fellow drew a sword. The game was
becoming serious, and I should probably have been killed
had not a small party of armed men from the Kotwali, on
hearing the uproar, come out at the double and escorted me
into an enclosure. I at once sent word by one of them on
horseback into Sherpur cantonments, and an escort was sent
out, and I was glad to find myself safely out of the walls. I
realised, however, that I had disobeyed orders and the con-
sequences might be serious ; my only consolation was I had
done it in order the better to equip the Force for Kandahar, and
that my fault lay in an excess of zeal. Immediately I reached
my tent I received an order to report myself to Colonel Low.
I learnt that I had committed a most heinous offence, and
one that might have led to serious political consequences,
for had I been murdered the question of punishment would,
have become a very complicated and awkward one, on the
eve of our finally evacuating Kabul, but this was as nothing
to what was to follow. I was directed to attend at the Head-
quarters Office, where 1 again met Colonel Low, and was
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ushered into the presence of a still greater man. This was
the very first time I ever had the honour of being spoken to
by him, and after explaining what I had done, and why I
had done it, I was allowed to depart. I was more than
pleased that, although I had very nearly got into serious
trouble, I had thereby been brought before the highest
tribunal, and I could not help thinking without discredit to
myself. Colonel Low too, I hoped, was not sorry to see his
officers erring on the right side.

The Kandahar force left Kabul on the 8th August, and a
few days later the new Amir, Abdur Rahman, arrived near
Sherpur.

The retirement of the remains of the Field Army from
Kabul to Peshawur began on the 11th of August, and I was
on duty with the rear-guard as far as Jugdulluk, after which
I hurried on by order to Jellalabad.

The day we left Kabul was one of the hardest I ever passed.
I do not know exactly what orders had been issued, but I
had a very large number of animals under my charge, and
I found my column mixed with a struggling mass of men,
carts, and animals, from another; all trying to get across
one narrow bridge. The confusion in the Transport made
the march appear to me more like a hurried retreat than the
dignified movement of an army. Many camels and pack
ponies threw their loads, and others were severely damaged,
whilst a great many packages were left on the roadside.
My servant, who had served me so faithfully throughout,
came to me and asked if the new Amir was attacking our
rear-guard, and a Hindu trader, who was taking advantage
of our leaving Kabul to accompany us, and had bidden adieu
to the city where he told me he had lost everything during the
siege. of Sherpur in December, was in abject terror, and
really believed for a time that we were being driven out. Of
course I only refer to the small portion of the force which I
personally accompanied.

The settlement of accounts of a war, which is reported
to have cost over twenty millions sterling, was prolonged
for years. I can quote one instance. A year after its close
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I received an official letter asking me to give the approxi-
mate weight of a copper camp-kettle that had been issued to
me for Transport purposes. How many Babu accountants,
I wonder, had it taken to evolve the document?

On the 23rd August I recrossed the frontier and arrived
at Peshawur. The Afghan Campaign was a turning-point
in the history of the Indian Army. The Transport question
alone, to say nothing of the many other most important
matters, needed and received wholesale overhauling.

The Transport that originally went up to Kabul from India
could in no way compare with that which marched with Sir
Frederick Roberts from Kabul to Kandahar, and yet I doubt
if the latter itself could bear any comparison with the splendid
Transport Corps with which the Army in India is now
furnished. The mule train detailed for Major-General Corrie
Bird’s column, which took the Field in 1897, in the Tochi
valley on the North-West Frontier, at a time when India was
enjoying one of its temporary lulls, was probably as near per-
fection as it is possible to get any animal transport, and as I
watched the workmanlike manner in which Troop on Troop
marched into Bunnoo, in June and July, 1897, I could not
but see the giant improvements which had been effected since
the days when I took over my first convoy at Peshawur in
1879. I was no longer doing Transport work in 1897, but was
serving as Assistant Adjutant-General of the Force, and
hence could look without any kind of partiality on what I
saw.




CHAPTER 111
1881-1882

OPERATIONS IN WAZIRISTAN—KOHAT—TONK—KANIGURAM—UMBALLA
—SPORT IN ASSAM—UMBALLA

OUR months in Peshawur passed very pleasantly. As
far as Transport duty was concerned my only com-
plaint was that there was little or nothing to do except to
attend the sale of surplus and worn-out animals. I managed
one day to purchase a good-looking black mare from a
dealer for which I gave seventy rupees, and having won a
small race at a Gymkhana meeting sold her for seven hundred
rupees immediately after, a bit of good luck which estab-
lished me temporarily as a judge of horse-flesh among the
younger ones of my acquaintance. Early in 1881 I was
transferred to Jhelum in the Punjab, and in April was again
ordered with the Transport on active service. This time it
was against the Mahsud Waziris, a most truculent race
inhabiting the country west of Bunnoo and Dera Ismael
Khan beyond our old Punjab Frontiers. The whole Force
was to be commanded by Brigadier-General T. G. Kennedy,
C.B., then commanding the Punjab Frontier Force, and he
was also personally in command of No. 1 Column; whilst a
second Column under Brigadier-General J. J. H. Gordon, c.B.
(now General Sir John Gordon, K.C.B.), was to move by
a different route, both forces meeting in the heart of the
Waziri country. I was posted to General Kennedy's
column. Hard fighting was expected, as in 1860 these
tribes made a good stand against us and have always been a
most self-satisfied people. How many expeditions of differ-
ent sorts have been sent against the Waziris it would prob-
ably be difficult to say ; but one thing is certain, that to this
day they are a thorn in the side of the Government.
Indian frontier expeditions frequently furnish only as
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much fighting as we intend they should ; there are excep-
tions when the tribes will fight hard and long and must be
subdued by force alone, but in the case of the Waziris and
some others they will only fight if followed into the heart of
their difficult and mountainous country and thus brought to
bay. They are still to-day attacking posts and escorts,
carrying off loot and harmless British subjects, and when
troops are sent against them they retire into their impossible
hills, only making a semblance of a fight, and wait till we
choose to recross our frontiers; then they begin the same
thing over again. I have served in two Waziri expeditions
now, with an interval of sixteen years between, and in both
this was more or less the case. Had they then been forced
to fight we should have had our money’s worth ! and given
them the punishment they so richly deserved.

In April I found myself once again in Peshawur with orders
to leave for Waziristan in a few days, with a very large train
of mules and dooly (ambulance) bearers, nearly all of which
I had to take over from the troops lately forming the Afghan-
istan Field Force, and which were still maintained on a war
footing in the Khyber, Kurram and Peshawur. The first
thing I found was that nearly all the Non-commissioned
officers, drivers and bearers, numbering some one thousand
five hundred, were time-expired, z.e. they had been engaged
for the duration of the Afghan War only, and were most
unwilling to serve in another campaign, especially away
from the limits of what they considered Afghan territory
proper.

In order to reach Tonk, our Base of operations, it was
necessary we should march along the Punjab Frontier
through Kohat, Edwardsbad (Bunnoo) and Pezu, a total
distance of 193 miles. The hot weather had set in and
the men were much in arrears of pay, and were looking
forward to being discharged and allowed to return to
their homes. I knew a great many of the Transport Non-
commissioned officers and men personally ; we had served
together for months in Afghanistan and they trusted

! This was written before the 1902 expedition ended.
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me thoroughly, and fortunately I had an excellent British
N.C.O. of the 1oth Hussars to assist me ; but after holding
several parades and using every endeavour in my power
to explain matters to all ranks, I plainly saw that the
task before me was a most difficult one, as to every ex-
planation of mine I only received the reply, ¢ The Sirkar
(Government) promised we should be allowed to go at the
end of the Afghan War, and why does it now force us to go
on service again? We do not want our arrears of pay, we
want nothing, we only ask leave to return to our homes.”

The night before I was supposed to start on my journey, I
pitched my tent amongst the men, and was up till long after
midnight going round to see that all was well. I had a
foreboding that something serious would occur and I had
warned the authorities at Peshawur ; but my distinct orders
were to start, so there was nothing to be done but obey.

Atthree a.m. I was roused by my orderly, who informed me
that many of the drivers and bearers had deserted and taken
away the head and heel ropes of the animals. I soon had
evidence of this as mules began galloping wildly about, and
before many minutes my tent ropes were pulled up and my
humble abode was flat on the ground. The confusion that
followed beggars description, and it was not till midday that
with the help of an escort, order was in some measure
restored. A telegram was sent to Simla and in reply I was
authorised to make certain promises ; this was done and the
escort was increased very considerably, and after a further
delay I eventually started. But mutiny in a seething form
is a most difficult thing to stifle, especially when (as in this
case) the men have a real grievance, according to their own
lights, and are not legally enlisted servants of the State.

At Kohat I had to pick up another big batch of animals
and ambulance bearers, making a total of over two thousand
mules, etc., and some thousand Native Non-commissioned
officers and men. Under any circumstances such a convoy
is no easy matter to manage, but when the temper of the
men is taken into consideration it will be readily understood
that I felt a great responsibility, especially as I was well
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aware that without this Transport the Columns could not be
equipped at the Base. I had no intention, however, of asking
for any extra help, as being a very junior officer someone
senior to me might have been sent, when he would of course
have taken the responsibility and I should have become a
mere cypher.

A good many desertions occurred outside Peshawur, but
otherwise all went fairly well and I hoped matters would soon
be all right.

The storm burst, however, sooner than I expected, and
one evening as I was sitting down to my meal I saw an
angry crowd come surging towards my tent; it was headed
by one of the senior N.C.O.’s, armed with a long latee
(stick). Instantly seizing my revolver which I had kept care-
fully loaded since leaving Peshawur, I placed it by my side,
and assuming as far as I could an air of indifference I
waited. The Jemadar was decidedly the worse for liquor
(albeit he was supposed to be a very strict Mussulman), and
reeling up to within a couple of yards of me demanded in
loud tones that I should pay up and dismiss all the drivers,
etc. ; I rose from my chair. The crowd surged backwards,
but as I walked forward again collected round me; I
jumped up on a mule cart which stood outside my tent and
only just in time, for I saw that they now meant mischief ;
however I called out that I would fire into the crowd unless
they at once dispersed, and they knew I meant it. No need
to prolong the story, they did disperse, and I spent a
wakeful night with my servant. At dawn the whole camp
was mustered and I went down the ranks. Mutiny can only
be dealt with summarily, and so I reduced nearly all the old
Non-commissioned officers who were permanent Government
servants entitled to pensions, and entered it in their service
books. I then proceeded to promote in their places such
young hands as I had noted doing their duty, and I admin-
istered to a certain number of N.C.O.’s and men alike,
irrespective of rank, a sound flogging. Nevera man moved
during the whole of this performance, which I attribute
chiefly to the cool behaviour of my 1oth Hussar Sergeant

D
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who watched for the slightest signs of insubordination and
would have knocked the first man down who showed it. I
had no further trouble and took all my convoy safely into
Tonk.

In dealing with conquered races there can be no sort of
doubt that the worst possible thing is to give them any
shadow of an idea that you mean to break faith with them.
To the ordinary native of India, the Sirkar (Government)
is something that is the personification of honesty and truth-
fulness. The Sirkar’s word he considers inviolable, and
cannot comprehend how it should ever have any other mean-
ing. In this particular case, looking at it in the light of
ordinary dealing between master and servant, the Govern-
ment were not so much to blame; they found themselves
face to face with a serious difficulty in an unexpected
quarter, most of the Army Transport was still away on the
Kandabhar side, and, in fact, the only available Transport was
at or near Peshawur or Kohat. But the native cannot argue
on our lines of thought; it was sufficient for him to realise
that something different to what he had been promised, and
what he believed certain, was about to happen, and he tried
to take the law into his own hands. The Indian Transport
muleteer and the kahar (ambulance bearer) are probably
the most faithful and patient adjuncts to an army that the
world can produce. After many years spent with them on
service I can confidently assert the truth of the above state-
ment; but let them once think that the Government means to
break faith with them, and the keystone of their discipline
vanishes. This is even more the case with black races. I
have twice seen good and loyal soldiers in West Africa
suddenly break over all the bonds of discipline because
they firmly believed the white man meant deliberately to
deceive them; then the officer who had till that time been
held to be a Fetish, a Juju, a god, suddenly became an
ordinary mortal, and the spell of his natural power was
gone. At any cost it is better to keep one’s promises, and
to give such men the option of choosing, when at least some,
nay, often many, will voluntarily remain and see the job
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through. It is one of the dangers which underlies depen-
dence on all dark races, viz. that at any sacrifice you must
be prepared to keep your word, once given, even though
it may lead to serious consequences.

Number one column of the Field Force, under General
Kennedy’s command, consisted of twelve guns, three hun-
dred sabres, three thousand seven hundred infantry, and a
company of Bengal Sappers and Miners, and was composed
entirely of Native troops, all belonging to the Punjab
Frontier Force, with the exception of the Sappers and the
32nd Punjab Pioneers. Number two, or General Gordon’s
column, was made up of eight guns, three hundred Sabres,
and about three thousand four hundred Infantry, including
a British Mountain Battery and the 4th Battalion Rifle
Brigade.

General Kennedy left the Base at Tonk on 18th April, and
the force halted at Zam, where several of the leading Waziri
Chiefs came in and surrendered. This acceptance of sur-
renders made only after our troops have actually taken the
Field at immense expense, and immediately they have been
put into motion, is a policy I do not understand, nor is it
for me to comment upon it. Suffice it to say that many
years after, when the day came that I personally had com-
mand of a Force, I informed Chiefs and others who had
committed every sort of iniquity, but offered to submit
when defeat stared them in the face, that it was then too late,
and they might fight or run away, as they chose, but it had
got beyond the question of pardon. The fiat, however, may
have gone forth that the punishment of the Mahsuds on this
occasion was to be of the gentle type, and yet even with that
there were found some sections who preferred to fight rather
than be coerced, and there were few in the British camp who
did not drink a bumper to these, and ill-luck to their faint-
hearted compatriots.

On the 25th April we had the satisfaction of knowing that
we should not have a walk-over, and no fun for our money,
as our rear-guard was fired on when leaving the camp at
Kajuri Kach. This firing on the Column in places where it
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was difficult to get at the enemy was an everyday amuse-
ment of the Waziris, and made matters unpleasant at times.
It was generally believed in camp that as we passed through
and left behind uninjured the villages and fields of any
section of a tribe, that section, then seeing that it was free
from further molestation probably for many years to come,
returned our mistaken kindness by immediately sniping our
convoys and rear-guards, and continuing the process until
we were too far off for them to trouble further about us.

On the 26th April a strong detached Column moved some
nine miles off the main route and destroyed the standing
and stored crops of Masak, the head of the Nana Khel clan,
a real sportsman, who refused to have anything to say to us.
A few days later some of our men were wounded near the
Nari Ragza Tangi (defile), whilst making a path over the
gorge, which was too narrow to admit of laden Transport;
and on the 3rd May we had our only stand-up fight, when
the clansmen stood their ground on the heights of Shah
Alum, and even made a determined charge on the 1st Sikhs;
but the advanced companies of that distinguished regiment
not only met and swept them away, but following their
success occupied the crest of the hills which was the enemy’s
main position. In this short onset the Sikhs lost three
killed and fourteen wounded, whilst two other casualties
occurred in other corps.

On the sth May we reached Kaniguram, the capital of the
Mahsud Waziri country, and halted there till the gth.
During this halt a small column ascended Pir Gul Mountain,
some 11,000 feet in height; the view from the summit was
magnificent, and well repaid one for the toil in getting there.
On the gth May the two Generals commanding Columns
joined hands at Razmuk, and some of the troops were re-
distributed. The Bunnoo column, under General Gordon,
had meantime been doing its share of the task, and had
punished such of the clans as offered any opposition ; they
had suffered some casualties, though, like us, their General
had hopes of more fighting. By 18th May we had recrossed
the frontiers and arrived at our starting-point, Tonk. The
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heat at that uninteresting spot in an eighty-pound tent
cannot be described in writing—it must be felt to be under-
stood. My best recollection of Tonk is that I managed
there to purchase an ancient bottle of walnut pickle and
a very rusty-looking tin of sausages, and though the
former was churned into a kind of vinegary blacking, and
the latter should have caused ptomaine poisoning, they
appeared appetising enough to a hungry Subaltern. Thus
ended the Waziri Expedition of 1881; but as to the good
that followed our expensive perambulations, it is only
necessary to read more recent accounts of operations on
these same frontiers.

I had the honour of my first mention in Despatches, but
we suffered much disappointment, as the Indian Frontier
medal, usually given for similar expeditions, was not sanc-
tioned. There were many things for a Transport officer to
learn in Waziristan. Our Chief was Captain Keighley
(now Colonel Keighley, c.B., D.s.0.), and he insisted on
animals only being laden just before the time came for their
turn to leave the camp ground. I found that many of the
regiments preferred loading their animals as soon as the
baggage was ready, and thus leaving them frequently to
stand laden for hours before moving off, and I had more
than one altercation in enforcing my orders. One night,
having only got to bed at four a.m., and being for rear-
guard next day, I gave my servant orders to remove my tent
from over me in the morning, and pack my kit, but not to
disturb me, so that I might put in a few hours’ well-earned
rest, as 1 should not be required to start till probably eleven
or twelve o’clock, there being a narrow pass close to camp
through which it would take some hours for the Force to
move. About six a.m., however, I was awakened by a
Staff officer, who had probably gone to bed at nine p.m.,
who asked me in a domineering manner, ‘“ What I meant
by not being ready on active service when the troops
were moving.” I told him I was for rear-guard, and
could not possibly have to start for many hours, and that
I had only had an hour and a half’s rest, and it was not the
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first night that this had been the case. However, he began
to use strong language, and so not being in a particularly
good humour, I told him in a few words that he ntight find
more useful work in another part of the camp. I was to
have had all sorts of things happen to me, but nothing came
of it.

Whilst crossing a stream one morning a sowar of a
Native Cavalry regiment who was just ahead of me was
thrown by his horse slipping on a boulder and coming
down ; he seized the animal, and after striking it violently
on the head with a stone, deliberately gave it several
gouges with his spur in the knee, causing blood to flow.
Needless to say, I had him severely punished. It is strange
how natives of India will sometimes in anger ill-treat
animals; I once saw a Transport driver carefully washing
and dressing a wound on a mule; suddenly the animal
shifted and upset the bucket of water which was being used ;
the brutal man struck the mule a blow with a stone in the
eye, which at once blinded it. He promptly received a
flogging in my presence.

In the Afghan Campaign everything had been done on
a very big scale. The war had lasted over two years, and
convoy and other duties on the line of communication, or
even in Kabul itself, had become monotonous once fighting
had ceased ; but in this, my first minor Frontier expedition,
whilst it lasted we were daily on the move, in fact, both
forces were really Flying columns moving en masse into the
enemy’s country, and having no lines or means of communi-
cation with the Base. Each day’s march took us further
from the fiery, hot, and dusty plains of the Punjab, and into
the mountains, where at least we could get a cool breath of
air and cold nights. Our track was the bed of a clear
stream, and all around were the everlasting mountains,
whilst every turn brought into view some new scene, some
moving panorama. Now you pass a few deserted huts,
hurriedly evacuated by their owners; an old mill-wheel
seems to look reproachfully at you, a half-starved dog snarls
and you unconsciously edge away from him; then on again
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and a peak covered with snow appears in the far distance.
Wondrous land! half paradise, half inferno, inhabited by
Nature’s children, tilled and watered as in the days of
Abraham, the scene of much bloodshed, but yet not
altogether without its own rude chivalry. A poet would
love to linger by those crystal waters; a painter might find
fifty subjects for his brush in a single day, and yet neither
poet nor painter can have any place in that long drawn out
column of men and beasts, toiling upward with a far
different object.

Often and often did I fall into thought as I saw the sun
rise and sink during the same day’s long march, and more
than once were such peaceful thoughts suddenly dispelled
by the prosaic crack of a rifle, or the resounding echoes of
some distant volley. Then poetry vanished like a dream,
and dull reality resumed its sway.

So many, abler than I am to judge, have written of the
Native Army of India that I feel a diffidence in adding any-
thing, but at least I have always had one advantage in that
I know the language and the people as only those who know
them young can do. I had, in many ways, the disadvan-
tage of being left in India as a boy, but I was sent home
just young enough to gain most of the advantages of an
English education and school life. The knowledge of the
language, however, has always stood me in good stead, and
I was thus even as a Second Lieutenant able thoroughly to
understand Native soldiers and their ways. It was not long
before I was convinced that the better classes of Indian
troops are not to be surpassed by any. Given sufficient
officers the native soldiers of the Army of India, if not allowed
to rust too long in the same part of the country, will
prove themselves fit to fight in the first line in any war.
What could exceed the devoted gallantry of our British
troops in South Africa? but I doubt not that if ever such
a strain comes on our empire again, and the Indian Army is
called on to share in it, the deeds performed in the Trans-
vaal, Natal, and Orange River Colonies will be emulated by
the Sikh, Gurkha, Punjab-Mahomedan, Dogra, Rajput,
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Jat, and others of those fine martial races which compose
the King’s army in Hindustan.

On the general break up of the vast masses of Transport
which had been raised for the Afghan War I returned to
my regiment, which had meantime been transferred to
Umballa, and I was given the appointment of acting
Adjutant with the half-battalion, the headquarters being at
Solon, near Simla.

At Umballa I again met the gth Queen’s Royal Lancers,
and as many of their officers were away on leave, they were
good enough to give me a place in their regimental game of
polo whenever they wanted an extra hand. To play polo
with the gth was an education hard to get in those days, and
whatever I know of the game is due to them. Gough,
Chisholm (who fell at Elandslaagte), Cameron, Little,
Jenner, and others—all well-known polo players—were
amongst those from whom it was my good fortune to learn
this—the finest of games.

In the spring of 1882 I obtained three months’ (Afghan
War) leave, and started on a shooting expedition to Assam.
That country was not then known as it is now, and com-
munications were in rather a primitive state, and it was in
fact for these very reasons that I elected to go there; my
imagination had been fired in the days of my solitude whilst
commanding the Post at Fort Battye by reading shikar
stories in the As7an sporting newspaper, and although I
knew nothing of the country, nor, indeed, a soul in it,
I started with a double 12-bore rifle, a 12-bore shot gun
which fired ball, a double ‘500 express by Holland and
Holland, and sufficient fishing tackle for the trip. To 'get
to Assam in those days it was necessary to travel vid Cal-
cutta, and by the Eastern Bengal Railway to Kaunia,
whence a combination of narrow-gauge railways, trolleys,
and small steamers landed you eventually at Dhubri, on the
River Brahmaputra, where you were in Assam proper.
Nowadays a daily mail-boat leaves Dhubri, both up and
down the river, and travelling is easy, but at the time I am
writing of there were no small steamers, and passengers for
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the Brahmaputra valley had to travel by the large tea-boats,
which were not only irregular in their timing, but frequently
stuck on sandbanks, or were delayed for days by the require-
ments of the tea-gardens and the loading and unloading of
cargo. The pace also was very slow, as generally many
laden tenders were attached.

Life on these old steamers was, however, very pleasant,
and the time occupied in the journey passed very agreeably.
I had no kind of idea where I should land, or, having
landed, how I should set about getting any sport. The
River Brahmaputra must be seen by those who wish to
appreciate the apparent hopelessness of making a start any-
where from its banks. A vast sea of water lazily rolling on
towards the ocean, hundreds of islands and sandbanks
dotted over its surface, and as far as the eye can reach the
banks covered with impenetrable, twenty to thirty foot high
elephant grass. Great eddies and whirlpools everywhere,
alligators basking in the sun on every open patch of sand;
now and again a herd of buffalo, just visible on some low
grass mounds away in the far distance ;—all these sights
make a weird picture, fascinating to the lover of nature,
even though it is nature in its most unpleasant mood.

Years afterwards, in West Africa, when ascending the
Niger north of the sixth parallel, 1 could not but be re-
minded of the similarity of the scene, although on a smaller
scale, for the volume of water cannot be compared to the
Brahmaputra in flood. ‘¢ Where are you going to land?”
inquired a fellow-passenger—a veteran tea-planter who knew
most things worth knowing about Assam. ‘‘Haven’t the
slightest idea,” was all I could say, and so we got into
conversation, and my spirits did not rise as he told me it
was hopeless to attempt shooting in this way. However,
I was going to have a try, and a few days after leaving
Dhubri I bundled my belongings ashore at a place called
Mungledye, and the boat steamed away. Robinson Crusoe
on his island could not have felt more lonely, There was
only one European and a few natives on the beach when
I landed, and even these soon disappeared, leaving me and
my servant the sole occupants of the port.
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Shouldering my rifle and leaving my kit to take care of
itself, I started for the Civil Station, which I was told was
a few miles distant, and en route fortunately fell in with
a planter, who gave me a lift in his cart. The track lay
through vast seas of the tallest, rankest grass I had ever
seen, and the more I saw of it the more I recognised how
hopeless it was to attempt shooting on foot ; but luck was in
store for me.

On arrival I called on Mr. A. J. Primrose, Indian Civil
Service, Deputy Commissioner, who offered me a bed and
dinner, and I soon found myself comfortably installed. It
was my good fortune soon after to spend many months with
him at Munipore, when he was Political Agent there in
1886, as I shall tell later. Primrose was not only the most
hospitable of men, but the keenest of sportsmen, and before
I had been an hour in the house he had arranged a fifteen
days’ trip for me. He had only just returned from a shoot
himself, and had two elephants with howdahs, which be-
longed to a small local Raja; these he placed at my dis-
posal, and two days later I had started on my first big game
shooting expedition.

Shall I ever forget the pleasing sensation of finding my-
self the master of two elephants, all my belongings borne
aloft above the trackless ocean of grass and occasional
forest, and fifteen days ahead of me to go where I pleased.
No letters! no telegrams! nothing to worry one, and
glorious sport all round. My first night I passed near a
small village by the side of a bheel, the Assam equivalent
for the Indian jheel or swamp. Duck and snipe were plenti-
ful, and I got a shot at a swamp deer. The natives were
much amused at my fente d’abri, for it was the only tent
I had with me, and even that I only used in case of rain;
they had been accustomed to seeing the sahib logue (white
officers) moving with a considerable amount of camp equip-
age. I had no bed, but slept on the rushes and dry grass
—a dangerous practice, which I gave up after this trip.

My third day out was to prove one of the most exciting I
ever spent in the jungles. I had been warned that there
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were rhinoceros close to the camp, and I felt sure this must
be the case, as my mahout (elephant driver) was in a state of
semi-intoxication when I climbed into my howdah.

I soon discovered that, although a good man on ordinary
occasions, my friend had no relish for rhino shooting, and
when such was ahead he was obliged to imbibe large
potions of opium to give him Dutch courage. The elephant
I was mounted on was a mukna, z.e. a tuskless male, a staunch
shikaree, but very bad-tempered, and on the advice of
Primrose I kept the second elephant close to me, so that
in case my own should become intractable I could change
on to the other.

We soon found ourselves on the fresh tracks of a rhino
and followed it up. Lilpoo, the mahout, I noticed would
keep trying to get off the track, which was more than
annoying, and I had at last to threaten him with a thrashing
if he showed such abject fright; this had some effect and
cautiously he moved on. Presently I spotted a great black
mass only fifteen yards ahead of me, and into it I fired two
barrels ; in an instant Lilpoo had turned the elephant and
we were literally galloping in an opposite direction. I
shouted to him to stop, but finding my efforts of no avail,
I gave him a gentle box on the ear, which had the desired
effect and he pulled up, and once again we turned towards the
rhino. We followed him up and came on blood, and almost
at the same moment saw his head and caught his small eyes
fixed on us. Bang! bang! went two more barrels from my
12-bore followed by a rushing mass, which passed within a few
yards. Reloading quickly, and before he was out of sight,
I fired two more shots. Surely, I thought, he must be down
now ; but no! he crashed on, and only after a big glass of
whisky could I get Lilpoo to make headway again in his
direction. Swaying this way and that, and after fully two
hours of tracking, I saw the grass moving a few yards ahead,
and instantaneously the wounded rhino charged down on us ;
there was no time to turn, nor would the elephant have done
so, as it had now become a question of self-defence. The
furious beast came crash into the mukna, and he in turn



44 ASSAM (cHAP. 111

quickly lowered his head, almost throwing me out of the
howdah ; the rhino seized him under the soft flesh of the neck
and at the same moment I pulled both triggers, the muzzle
of the rifle almost touching the beast’s spine. In the con-
fusion it is impossible to recall all the incidents, but
immediately the rhino rolled over and the elephant, finding
himself free, turned again to run. Having reloaded once
more I heard a noise, and the rhino, having recovered him-
self, and mad with pain and rage, was after us at his fullest
speed. Emptying both barrels as quick as I could under
the circumstances I held on, as I now found one of the girth
ropes of the howdah had snapped. Ten minutes’ headlong
going and we reached an open bit of ground, and knowing
it was hopeless to expect Lilpoo (who was shaking with fear
by this time) to face the foe again, I dismounted, adjusted
the gear, and got on to the second elephant.

I had only just done so when the rhino, which certainly
was the most persistent animal I ever shot, emerged from the
high grass from which it had been watching our proceedings,
and all was at once confusion again.

I fired in all, I think, fourteen bullets, eleven of which
struck him, and as evening was coming on, and neither
mahout would venture into the high grass again, I gave up
the chase. At dawn next morning I got the news that the
rhino was lying dead within a quarter of a mile of our camp.
My joy was unbounded, I had killed my first big beast ;
and his horn set up as a snuff-box is now the property of the
Officers’ Mess of my regiment.

The moral of the tale is that it is cruelty firing at ran-
dom into big animals, especially with inferior weapons,
such as my 12-bore was. I was a young shikaree then,
and in heavy grass it is frequently impossible to know
what part of an animal you are firing at. The remedy
is to use heavy rifles. I have for years now used a
double 8-bore, carrying 12 drachms of powder. The
argument, I am aware, is an old one, and such experienced
hunters as Mr. Selous will convince sportsmen, as no
humble person like myself can ever hope to do ; but at least
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I have on my side such a world-famed shikaree as the late
Mr. Sanderson, whose Zhirteen Years amongst the Wild
Beasts of India is too well known to need quotation. I
have carried my 8-bore in every sort of country and clime,
and ‘303 notwithstanding, shall always use it for such game
as elephants, rhino, and buffalo. A few days later I bagged
my first bison (gaur), and also a leopard, which I came on
suddenly in a small open swamp ; I think it must have been
asleep, as I managed to shoot it whilst just rising from a
lying-down position. Both the latter I killed with my *500
Holland and Holland, which was a far superior weapon to
a 12-bore rifle.

At Tezpore I crossed to the south bank of the Brahma-
putra, and fell in with Captain Lamb of the South Lancashire
Regiment, whose father was then serving in the Assam
Commission, and from whom I received many kindnesses.

Lamb was one of the best shots in the Army, and though
we only added a buffalo or two to the bag, we had some good
mahseer fishing.

I was very sorry to leave Assam, but made up my mind
to return again later on, little thinking that I should one day
be quartered there on duty, with fifty elephants at my
command, and a perfect country to shoot over.

The Umballa division was then commanded by Lieutenant-
General W. T. Hughes, c.B., and I had the honour of
being selected in August, 1882, to act as Brigade-Major, for
four months; this was a great rise and an opportunity for
learning Staff work which I little expected. As it was the
non-drill season, I spent most of my time in the office, and
as an instance of how even an Indian summer’s day
on an office stool may have its comical side, I must
relate how one day I was very much taken unawares in
a most awkward situation. I had been asked to take
part in some theatricals, in which I was to figure as an
old man with a long grey beard. I had written to
Calcutta for the appendage to my chin, and it had just
arrived by post. When I opened the parcel, as there was no
one in the office, I proceeded to put on the beard, and taking
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a hasty look in a small mirror which hung on the wall, I
came to the conclusion that no one could detect me. I was
about to replace the article in its case, when to my astonish-
ment the door opened, and I saw before me a very smart and
erect soldier—a Colonel and a V.C.—who had just arrived
from Simla, on his way to Bombay. He ascertained that a
young Subaltern was acting as Brigade-Major, and almost
seemed to start as he beheld instead of a youngster an old
grey-beard. However, suppressing his evident mirth, he
asked if I was Lieutenant Willcocks. 1 said ‘¢ Yes,” but was
so puzzled I still stuck to the beard, and as he bent down
to write his name in the report book, I quickly removed the
hideous thing and put it in my drawer. Having signed his
name the Colonel looked up and fairly jumped to find in
front of him no veteran grey-beard, but a very confused-
looking youth. We both laughed heartily when I explained
the matter.

Whilst I was acting as Brigade-Major the Assistant
Quartermaster-General of the Division was sent away on
duty, and I was appointed to act for him. As a Lieutenant
to hold such a high appointment, even for a short time, was
to me a surprise, and I was proud to think that the General
so thoroughly trusted me.

In November, 1882, Lord Ripon, who was then Viceroy
of India, opened the Sirhind Canal, which starts from
Rupar, on the River Sutlej. There was a great gathering
of Punjab chiefs, including the Maharaja of Patiala, the
Rajas of Jhind and Nabah, and the Nawab of Maler Kotla.
A vast camp was pitched at Rupar, where the Lieutenant-
Governor of the Punjab entertained a large number of
guests.

As befitted such an occasion, a strong military de-
tachment, consisting of British and Native Cavalry, Horse
Artillery, British Infantry (half of my own regiment), and
Punjab Infantry was detailed from the Umballa garrison
to form the Viceroy’s escort, and the General was pleased to
appoint me Brigade-Major to the force. The duties were, of
course, mostly ceremonial ones—detailing Guards of Honour,
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arranging for salutes, etc., etc.; but it was by no means
a sinecure, for Native Chiefs are careful of guarding their
prerogatives, and owing to their constant visits to the Vice-
roy or the Lieutenant-Governor, and the return visits, it was
a constant rush to have guards and guns ready. 1 re-
member having to double a guard from one camp over to
another in order to have it in time for some Highness’s
arrival. It was a most pleasant outing, and all ranks were
royally entertained. The public mess tent was the largest
canvas roof I ever saw, and had at one time been the circus
tent of a British Cavalry regiment. There were several
military bands, and dancing and other amusements gener-
ally closed the day’s proceedings. It gave me a great
opportunity for making some new friends, amongst them
the late Lord William Beresford, who ever after showed me,
as he did many others, the greatest kindness. My first
interview with him I well remember; I had detailed and
personally posted an Officer’s guard at the Viceroy’s tent
prior to his arrival : Lord William, who had an eagle eye
for all that pertained to His Excellency’s surroundings,
having visited the guard tent to see that all was well, went
off to his own quarters; immediately after, the officer with
the Punjab Government responsible for the military arrange-
ments came round and told me that the Viceroy did not
require an officer with his guard, and he might consequently
be allowed to go. I had no intention, however, of letting
him go till I had seen Lord William, for I felt convinced
that an officer should be there under any circumstances.

A few minutes after the Guard had to turn out, and Lord
William happening to pass by, I went up to him.
‘¢ Officer, of course there must be an officer. You listen to
nobody but me, my boy, and you’ll be all right.”

I had no hesitation after that in always going straight to
him, as there were innumerable details to be observed,
which were not to be found in the red-books. Although
surrounded by inquirers, and worried by fifty different
things all at once, I never knew him get annoyed, so long
as he knew you were on business bent and had something
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urgent to ask. No man ever received a gratuitous incivility
at the hands of Lord William, and how many are there to-
day who owe much to him?

One of my most pleasant duties in Umballa was the com-
mand of a survey party for mapping the Jumna River from
where it left the Himalayas down to the limits of the military
district ; we were several weeks at work, and what with
topography and shooting had a right good time. One day,
being within a twenty-mile ride of the cantonments, I rode
in and dined at the mess, and having to commence work
early next morning, I started on the return journey after
a game of billiards.

I had not had much sleep the previous night, and was in
consequence tired, and fell asleep whilst cantering along the
grand trunk road, and was awakened by finding myself and
pony rolling down an embankment ; the reins snapped, and
the pony galloped off to camp, leaving me to trudge some
five weary miles on foot with a sprained wrist and a very
sore shoulder. Thus ended my night’s outing.



CHAPTER 1V

1883-1884

LUCKNOW-—TRANSPORT OFFICER IN ASSAM—GOLAGHAT—ORDERED TO
SUAKIN—LAHORE

N February, 1883, I obtained nine months’ leave to
England, and was ordered to take time-expired men
to Bombay for the old trooper Crocodile.

The night of leaving Umballa a terrific rain and hail
storm came on whilst we were waiting for the troop train,
and an incident occurred which I relate as showing how the
British soldier never resents summary punishment in any
form so long as it is deserved.

A Private of a certain regiment, unfortunately for himself,
had done himself not wisely but too well in the canteen when
bidding good-bye to his friends. On the platform the
violent wind had extinguished most of the lamps, and the
confusion was great. Whilst endeavouring to find my traps
and those awful official papers, with which every unfortunate
officer in charge of details was burdened, I had a hand placed
on my shoulder, and looking round found my inebriated
friend using some very strong language, which he followed
up by a push which nearly upset me over one of my boxes. 1
saw he was not quite sober, but still sober enough to under-
stand plain English, and thinking he had mistaken me for
somebody else, 1 told him roughly that I was his Com-
manding Officer, and he had better be off. The man, how-
ever, thinking himself safe under the circumstances, said he
knew well I was an officer, and at the same time shoved
me. I was young, and Queen’'s Regulations were not
framed to meet such -cases as this, nor had I any desire
to be detained in India after the sailing of the good ship
Crocodile to give evidence before a court-martial; nor,
indeed, was I at all anxious to have my temporarily irre-
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sponsible Private put in prison; so rapidly reviewing (or
perhaps not reviewing) these things in my mind, and know-
ing that darkness hid us from view, I proceeded to deal
with him summarily. On arrival of the train he was roughly
jostled into it, and when we drew up next morning at coffee
hour at Gaziabad railway station, a sorry-looking Private
and his Commanding Officer stood face to face on the plat-
form; but both knew what had happened; and though
neither of us nor any of the men said anything, that I ever
heard, when we disembarked at Portsmouth the man fell
in with the draft of my own regiment, some of whom pre-
sented me with a gold ring, as a ‘‘token of respect” in
memory of the voyage. I have never forgotten that, and we
parted very good friends.

I returned to India in December, 1883, in the Hall liner
Speke Hall, which shortly after foundered in the Indian
Ocean with nearly all hands. 1 mention this as, curiously
enough, I have sailed in many vessels which have since
been totally wrecked. The last one was the Dacca, of the
British India Line, which foundered in the Red Sea near
the Daedalus Rock

In 1884 I was offered, and accepted, an appointment in
the newly-formed Army Transport Department in India, into
which officers from British regiments were admitted. The
Chief then was the present Sir Robert Low, commanding
the Bombay Forces, and from him I have received very many -
kindnesses at different times.

-* I was first posted to Lucknow. The hot weather months
passed in this historic place were most pleasant ones, as, in
addition to my own interesting work, there was daily boating
on the Goomtee, which at this time of the year is very weedy;
still it gave one an excellent opportunity for exercise, and
we played polo twice a week ; but above all it was the scene
of the great achievement of Havelock and Outram, Colin
Campbell and Lawrence—it was, in fact, a spot hallowed by
the names of England’s greatest sons, and every day passed
in going over the world-famed Residency, the Alum Bagh,
and other equally well-known places, sent one home a better
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man, resolved to try in one’s own humble life to carry out
the epitaph on Sir Henry Lawrence’s tomb, ‘¢ He tried to do
his duty.”

From Lucknow I went to Morar, near Gwalior, which was
later given up as a British cantonment, and handed over to
the Maharaja Scindia in exchange for the fortat Jhansi. My
most interesting work at Morar was to move about the
country purchasing mules for the Transport and Mountain
Batteries. I made Agra the chief purchasing depét, and
was so fortunate as to have for my assistant Captain Fred
Lugard, of the Norfolk Regiment. Many were the happy
days we spent together, often working till late into the night
inspecting and branding animals brought in for sale. We
went together to the horse fair at Batesar, near Shekoabad,
on the East India Railway, and it was here I had my first
ride on a camel. The owner, to display its speed, broke into
a gallop, and we found ourselves unwillingly scouring the
plain; the animal eventually pulled up near a dyke, and
I was thankful to find myself alive.

My assistant of Morar days, years after became my Com-
manding Officer on the Niger; but it is an honour to work
in any capacity with such men, and when 1 first received the
offer by telegram from the War Office, I remember saying
to a brother Staff-officer, ‘‘Seniority and juniority play no
part in the lives of men like Lugard.”

In pig-sticking, tiger-shooting, and many other forms of
sport I have ridden by him and shot with hlm, and you
must ride to keep near Lugard when the boar is in front,’
but he is more pleased than yourself if by good riding or
shooting you can outwit him.

Whilst at Morar I was offered, and gladly accepted, the
appointment of officer in charge of the Army Transport on the
Eastern Frontier districts of India. Headquarters were at
Golaghat, in the heart of Assam, and some twenty miles off
the River Brahmaputra, on the road leading to the Naga
Hills and thence to Munipore and Burmah. The very idea
of being quartered in the midst of the finest shooting
grounds in India, with fifty elephants at my command, was
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sufficient compensation for the loss of companions and every
form of amusement; then again the work I knew was heavy,
and entailed long rides of from sixty to a hundred miles
a day, but that in itself was an extra inducement to go ; and
finally, there was a freedom from red tape, that terrible bug-
bear which destroys initiative and damps ardour. It wasa
glorious prospect, and I felt I had got the one billet in the
Service, at that time of life, that I should have most desired.
Besides, on the frontiers of India there are always chances
of active service, and I seldom enjoyed a journey as I did
that which landed me at Golaghat.

My only companions were the Civil district officer, Captain
Malcom Gray, whose house was a mile from mine, and three
British Non-commissioned officers attached to the Transport
depdt. A few tea planters lived at distances from two to
twenty miles, and this made up the European population.

I had some twenty elephants in the station itself, and
about three hundred mules and ponies, besides other animals
at different times; there were also a large corps of ambulance
bearers, and a small medical department, workshops, etc. ;
but in addition to Golaghat I had Transport at Dibrughar, in
the extreme east of the Assam Valley; at Shillong, the
beautiful hill station in the Khasia Hills; at Gowhatty, the
capital of the country; at Silchar and Cachar, in the Surma
Valley, and lastly at Kohima, the hill station some five
thousand feet above sea-level, which was our Frontier post
on the Munipore borders, and the headquarters of an Assam
Gurkha regiment. To one and all of these places I was
supposed to travel and inspect the Transport, and so long as
I kept my Office straight I had a free hand to move wherever
I thought it necessary. The chief work, however, was to
maintain the supply of rations for the Native troops at
Kohima, as well as the ammunition, war material, clothing,
and other Government stores. This entailed working con-
voys through the Namba Forest during the cold weather
months from November to the end of March ; after that the
rains set in, and the roads became impassable, except in case
of emergency, when, of course, any country in the world can
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be traversed. Golaghat is the last station in fairly open
country, on the road from the River Brahmaputra to Kohima;
after leaving it you plunge into dense forests, very like those
of West Africa, from which you only emerge when, after
going some eighty miles, you are well into the high
mountain ranges which divide India from Munipore and
Burmah. The first time I entered the Namba it seemed to
me hopeless ever attempting to shoot it either on elephants
or on foot, but it was not many weeks before I found it quite
possible to shoot on foot, though impossible, except in limited
areas, to do so off elephants.

The road, which was unmetalled and only bridged at the
deepest streams, wound through magnificent forests; the
giant nahores, a very hard kind of red iron wood which
even white ants cannot relish, rose on all sides with their
straight bare trunks and bushy tops, for all the world like
the little trees in toy boxes; mammoth cotton trees stood
like sentinels watching over their smaller brethren, whilst
below there struggled for existence an undergrowth of every
form and colour, and knitting all into one almost impene-
trable mass were the beautiful canes, with their graceful
tendrils, running along the roots and boughs, round from
one giant to another, and finally shooting upwards and
falling like stars in all directions, their shiny leaves reflected
in the sunlight which but seldom can reach below the top-
most boughs. On the path itself butterflies of every hue
flitted hither and thither, and the bridges, which seemed
their favourite resorts, were literally a blaze of brilliant
colours. The silence of the forest was broken by the shrill
calls of the hoolook—the tailless black monkey of Assam ;
the note started by one is soon taken up as a chorus by the
whole pack, and their united efforts are weird in the extreme.
The game-looking jungle cock, the shy college pheasant,
the wood pigeon, green pigeon, partridge, and numerous
kinds of smaller birds were plentiful, and duck and snipe
revelled in the many silent pools, or in the waters of the
Dhunsiri, whose course the road mainly followed. It is
positively fascinating to march through such scenes, to
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commune direct with nature and imbibe its unadulterated

purity. ¢ This is not solitude.”

But with all its beauties what interested me even more was
the fact that in those dark forests roamed the mightiest of
beasts—the elephant, bison, buffalo, and tiger—to say
nothing of hundreds of smaller animals; and with man’s
instinctive desire I longed for the opportunity to slay. It
came, but not as soon as I had hoped, for it took me two or
three months to get into the new work, during which time
I frequently rode distances of from sixty to a hundred miles
in a day. My plan was to post ponies at each halting stage
in the forest, and provide the sais (horse-keeper) with rations
for himself and animal for a month at a time. There was
no means of warning him when I would be coming, and
thus not only could I drop down at any moment to see how
the ponies were being fed and looked after, but I always
knew my mount was ready for me. 1 carried a loaded
revolver, in case of meeting wild beasts, which I very
frequently did; and in my holsters a few sandwiches and
a pint of beer. Thus equipped I never felt the slightest
fatigue in covering the distance to Kohima, which was
ninety-nine miles from Golaghat, in one day when neces-
sary ; or if work detained me at Nichuguard, the Transport
Post at the foot of the hills, in two days at the outside.

Those rides through the silent jungles I shall never for-
get, and they were frequently most exciting. Almost my
first trip, I was one day cantering as usual, and turning
a corner I came on a tiger standing on the path, half
covered by leaves and his head turned my way. I was
riding a very timid pony, but fortunately I spotted the tiger
before he did me ; pulling up short, I quickly got hold of
my revolver and turned the pony sharp about, keeping my
eye on the tiger meanwhile.

Having put a couple of hundred yards between him and
myself, I fired two shots into the air to scare the beast away,
and after waiting for five minutes, and feeling sure he must
have gone, I cautiously advanced again. At fifty yards
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from where he had been standing I put spurs into the pony
and literally flew past the spot. Imagine my surprise, not
to say sheer fright, when I felt the pony violently sway to
the right and dash into the thick grass which bordered the
road ; pulling all I knew, and very nearly being dismounted
by the erratic movements of poor Halmirah (for that was his
name), I managed to swing him round on to the path again,
but if possible at increased speed. I then knew the reason.
The tiger had hardly moved, but was still standing in his
place as unconcerned apparently as if he was merely there
to see the sport. Had I fallen, perhaps this story would not
have found its way into print. I had many other adven-
tures of a more or less similar nature, and when a few weeks
afterwards Colonel Low came to Assam to inspect, I told
him chaffingly of the perils his officers had to risk in the
execution of their duty. We rode through the Namba
Forest, and fortunately, to prove 1 was not romancing, we
met a wild bull buffalo, which took up a commanding position
on the road some two hundred yards in front of us and kept
us at bay for some time before he betook himself to his
haunts.

Sir Robert Low is very fond of music, and played the
violin to perfection, and always carried it with him ; and it
was a treat, indeed, to hear him play, after a hard day’s
work and a tough ride, in those jungle lands where music
such as he can produce is seldom heard. It must be an in-
comparable gift thus to have the power of softening the
rough edge of life, and at the same time affording so much
pleasure to others.

Before he left Golaghat for Calcutta, he received a tele-
gram from Government, informing him that India was to
provide a contingent for service in the Soudan, and a few
days later I was ordered by wire to proceed to Suakin,
calling first at Lahore, in the Punjab. What luck! I was
quartered at the farthermost east end of India, beyond all
hope, as I thought, of being sent westwards, and yet here
I was under orders for service once again. I felt myself
already well on the military ladder, and visions of charging
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Dervishes and distant Khartoum rose on every side. I was
able on this occasion to do a good turn to my friend Lugard
by strongly recommending him for Assistant Transport
Officer of the Indian Contingent. Chiefly through his own
worth, but perhaps helped a little by my recommendation,
he was given the post, and thus first landed in Africa, where
his name was afterwards to become a household word. In
twenty-four hours I was on my way. At Lahore 1 was
ordered to raise a corps of Punjab muleteers, who were, on
arrival in the Soudan, to take over mules from Cyprus and
the South of Europe, and were to be attached to the British,
and not the Indian Contingent Transport.

I proceeded to Gujranwala, a place on the railway north
of Lahore, and within a few days 1 had completed my
numbers.

It is extraordinary how keen the natives of India are to
embark on any enterprise so long as it is under Government
auspices. Here were men who knew they must cross the
seas, the hated kala pani (or black water), a term they also
use to express transportation to the Andaman Islands, they
knew or rather imagined all its horrors, and some at least had
heard of sea-sickness, which really is what they dread most
in a sea voyage; yet I could have filled the ranks over and
over again, notwithstanding the restricted field for recruiting
and the short notice that had been given. Amongst those I
enlisted was one Jwala Singh, a Sikh and an ex-Sowar of
the 1gth Bengal Lancers, who had ridden with his regiment
at the Battle of Ahmed Khel; after the close of the war he
joined me as an orderly and remained with me for thirteen
years, serving faithfully and well through five campaigns.
Each time I returned to India from leave the first man I met
at Bombay was my gallant Sikh orderly. None more brave
and true ever lived, and one of the saddest bits of news that
ever reached me was the report of his death in 1898, whilst
I was on the Niger. Poorold fellow! he sent me word to say
he did not care to live now that his master had left India
and would never return again,



CHAPTER V
1885-1886

THE SUAKIN EXPEDITION—BACK TO INDIA—TRANSPORT OFFICER AT
GOLAGHAT AGAIN —SPORTING ADVENTURES IN ASSAM — HEALTH
IN THE TROPICS

E left Bombay for Suakin in the Rosina, a ship built

at Sunderland ; her decks consisted of iron plates

and she was very low ’tween decks and the accommodation

about as bad as it could be, in fact she was never meant to

carry passengers of any sort. In addition to my men I had

a few mules and horses, which had to stand on the slippery

plates, their head ropes fastened to the rails round the poop ;

had we had a single day’s rough weather every animal would

have been killed. Fortunately it was as calm as a mill-pond
all the way to Suakin.

Many of the men had little or no experience of mules, and
we did all we could on the voyage to interest them in learn-
ing how to saddle, groom, etc. The arrangements for
washing on this ship were nil, and as it was very necessary
that the men should keep clean, I paraded them daily at a
certain hour, when two hoses were turned on and every man
had to take a run past them; strange to say, the Sikhs
strongly resented this, as they said they objected to wash in
salt water. I knew this was all nonsense, so stripping I
myself led the way and they all followed, and after that they
were the keenest for the daily tub, and always headed the
Indian file double round the decks. We anchored outside
Suakin on 21st March and entered the harbour at dawn on
the 22nd. From the rigging we could see the Force leaving
Suakin for Tofrek (McNeill’s Zareba).

We had not been ashore long before we had practical
demonstration that a big fight was going on. I had gone
up to the water tower, from which you could plainly distin-
guish the smoke and dust, etc., in the direction of Tofrek,
and soon large numbers of horses and mules, etc., some
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wounded and bleeding, came galloping into Suakin. 1
stopped one Indian muleteer who gave me a most idiotic
account, making out that he was apparently the only living
man of all who had left that morning.

Next I met a British Lancer who was equally frightened
and incoherent.

All was bustle and excitement in the camp and Fort;
guards were being reinforced ; Corps falling in under arms,
and surplus followers, etc., being hurried inside the walls.
An attack on Suakin was apparently expected; but the
enemy had had a sufficient lesson for one day, and, notwith-
standing the temporary unpreparedness of the gallant
Berkshires, Fuzzy Wuzzy had learnt that he may surprise,
but he cannot frighten the British soldier ; the old 49th Foot
behaved once more as they had done on many a stricken
field, and were equalled in their courage and discipline by
the 14th Sikhs, the 28th Bombay Infantry, and of course by
the Royal Marines.

Next day there was more fighting, but only a few shots
were fired into camp. I had a practical lesson that night as
to the necessity of knowing the ¢‘ countersign,” or password,
to distinguish friend from enemy. Having received orders
to take over equipment at very short notice, I made for the
Ordnance Store tents, which were some way from my own
quarters ; it was after dark and I had forgotten to inquire
about a password ; my orderly Jwala Singh was with me, when
suddenly I was challenged, and before I could reply I saw a
flash and a bullet whizzed past my head ; instead of shouting
I foolishly turned and ran, as I was not sure whether it was
a friend or foe, and bang ! another shot. I lay down and
shouted for all I was worth, and as I heard no reply I turned
and ran over the sands in the direction of my own camp.
Next morning I could not retrace my course, nor did I ever
discover from which spot I was fired at ; but I never went out
again at night without the countersign.

Why the British Transport ever asked for an Indian corps
of muleteers I never understood. True! I was handed over
several hundred mules, oversized animals, too big to be
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saddled and handled by natives of India; I was also
furnished with the very best English-made saddlery, gear,
and equipment, and in short everything that money could
buy was supplied liberally, but from the day we landed till
we left the shores of the Red Sea, hardly once was the corps
put to its legitimate work ; in fact we all wondered what the
mules had been purchased for.

To sit doing nothing is a very poor game on active service,
and so my Subaltern, who belonged to a Punjab Cavalry
regiment, managed to get himself attached to the gth Bengal
Lancers, which fine regiment formed part of the Indian
Contingent, and I took every opportunity of joining the
Staff, or serving in any capacity I could get taken on in, and
thus accompanying the various Columns that were sent out
either towards Tamai, Handoub, or along the railway then
being constructed to Otao in the direction of Berber; I was
thus enabled to see a little fighting and gain some experience
of desert warfare.

Once only was my corps called on to join one of these
expeditions, and that was to Otao. I had had by this time
some considerable experience in Transport matters, and
thought I knew something of my business, so when I
received orders to load water we paraded in due time, only
too glad to get a chance of doing something. I found some
hundreds of wooden casks lying on the sands ; these were
meant for camel and not mule transport, and could easily be
loaded into the camel suleetahs (canvas or string saddle-
bags), but from their shape and size could not sit or be slung
on mules. I at once pointed this out, but was told I must
take them, as the flat-side galvanised mule kegs had already
been loaded on the camels. After using every argument to
prove the folly of the proceeding, I found myself obliged to
obey orders. In the first place it was all the men could do
to lift the weighty casks on to the huge European mules,
and as fast as they were slung on they fell off, and the
unfortunate Punjabis were at their wits’ end how to manage,
as the troops were already forming up ; at last it was time to
fall in ourselves, by which time I had about one-fourth of -
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the barrels loaded in a sort of way, and as there was no help
for it I moved off, leaving the other three-fourths of the
animals standing unloaded. I reported what had occurred
and was told to get into my place in the great moving
square. It never seemed to strike anybody that the absence
of three-fourths of my mules meant a considerable shortage
of water for the troops in a waterless desert, and I was so
thoroughly disgusted it was no use saying anything more.

We started, and several casks fell off on the march and
could not be reloaded amidst the mass of choking men and
animals all huddled up in the square. As far as I remember
some thirty or forty casks arrived full, and this was about all
the Punjab Mule Corps was ever officially called on to do.
I calculated the cost of that water to the Imperial Govern-
ment at about £200 per half-pint. My object now became
to find something for them to do, and so I organised them
into Ambulance Troops, as most of the saddles were fitted for
riding. In a very short time the men really became ex-
cellent riders and could drill in a rough way with great
precision ; they were taught to dismount and pick up sick
or wounded men and quickly put them on the mules, then
move off at a sharp trot; several of them had served in the
Native cavalry, and these were appointed to command the
different Troops. They became very quick and looked smart
in their khaki clothes with red pugrys and kummerbunds.

One day General Sir Gerald Graham inspected them, and
directed me to tell the men that he was much pleased at what
he had seen. Immediately after parade, several of the men,
apparently quite overcome by such an honour, came up and
asked me to get permission from the General Sahib to arm
them like Cavalry, and if their request had nothing else in it,
it at least showed they were keen.

After a time my men began gradually to disappear from
the Corps. Some were taken for the Indian Contingent, to
replace casualties, sick etc., others to replace the rascally
Greeks, Italians, Medes, Persians, and every other kind of
nationality, that had dropped from heaven knows where,
and become followers of the British Army on the shores of
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the Red Sea. Amongst my Non-commissioned officers was
a very old man, who had three smart sons also serving ; they
had offered to enlist on condition that their father was
allowed to accompany them, and being very good specimens
of Punjabis I had agreed. One of them wished to enlist in the
oth Bengal Lancers, and I mentioned it to his father. The
old man was perfectly furious, and left me vowing vengeance
against the prodigal who would desert his father in a strange
land. Shortly afterwards the erring son came running to
my tent and dashed in, placing me between himself and
his father, who followed with a stick. ¢ Where is my
faithless son ?” shouted the old man, ‘‘let me get at him!”
But I soon arranged matters, and father and son were
reconciled. Indian sons have a great reverence for their
parents, and the man who would face any foe cowers before
an angry father or mother, especially the latter.

During the time I was at Suakin, Lord Wolseley came
round by sea to inspect the Forces. I went to luncheon one
day on board his ship the Queen, and that was the first and
only time I had the honour of meeting the ex-Commander-
in-Chief ; but though I never had the good fortune to meet
him again, he was thoughtful enough to send me a letter
of congratulation on my return from Ashanti in 1901.

On the break up of the Eastern Soudan Army, I once
again returned to India, and was rejoiced to find myself
reposted to the Eastern Frontiers, where I relieved an officer
who hated the wild life and was only too glad to get away.
The last forty miles to Golaghat had to be done in a terribly
ancient, dirty, small, and leaky launch. The engines rattled
so much that it was impossible to hear anyone speaking,
even if he shouted. The River Dhunsiri was in high flood,
and I thought every moment we should go to the bottom, as
monstrous trees came down stream, one after the other, atan
alarming speed. There was one lady on board, and the
accommodation was limited to a tiny cabin over the stern,
which was too awful for description. However, necessity
knows no law, and so she had to brave it out. Our rate of
progress never exceeded three miles an hour. Turning a
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sharp bend the engines gave a prolonged groan and
collapsed. With difficulty an anchor was heaved over and
only just in time, as in another ten seconds we should
have crashed into a huge tree trunk sticking out of the water,
and without doubt everyone would have been drowned, as
there were no means of holding on to the banks, which con-
sisted of quicksand, and here and there rushes and high
grass under water. Whilst the engines were being doctored
up, I shot an alligator which ventured to show his head
twenty yards from the launch, and offered a reward if any-
body would take a boat out and fetch him. Three men
volunteered, and, after much difficulty, succeeded in getting
ropes round him and towed him past the boat, when we all
held on. The animal was got on board, and amid much
excitement the ropes were unloosed; but hardly had
we done so, when with a mighty splash of his tail, which
floored the engineer, the amphibious beast made a last dying
effort and disappeared over the side. He only just missed
going down the engine-room hatch, which feat, had he
accomplished it, would probably have created a record. A
live alligator in an engine-room would, under any circum-
stances, be a decided curiosity, but in the engine-room of
that prehistoric little steamboat would have meant the end of
its career.

My quarters at Golaghat were of the most primitive de-
scription ; the floors were all mud and very damp, it was
impossible to put down mats or carpets, as white ants would
devour them in a few hours. My second nightthere I found
one pair of boots half eaten and a small hillock formed under
my bed. I waslent a better house on the river later on,
where 1 was very comfortable. Wi ith the advent of the cold
weather I was enabled to get some excellent shooting, and
we also subscribed for and got a pack of hounds from
England, and many a good run they gave us after jackals.

Tigers were fairly numerous round Golaghat, and an
elephant was always kept near my quarters in case of any
khubber (news) being brought in of a “‘kill.” I sometimes
took out one or two of the British Sergeants attached to the
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Transport, and on one occasion a tiger was driven out by
the beater elephants straight in front of one of them. I
expected to see him fire, but not a bit of it, he merely gazed
at the beast, who stood hesitating as to what he should do.
“Fire!” 1 shouted, but my gallant Non-commissioned
officer was so astounded by the apparition that he would do
nothing of the kind. The tiger, thinking he had given him
ample opportunity, then turned towards me, and as he ran
past I dropped him dead. I never took Sergeant N—,
out again, and I do not think he ever wished to go.

In 1885-6 the country round Dhunsiri Mukh, which is
some twenty miles from Golaghat and on the River Brahma-
putra, was a perfect sportsman’s paradise; rhinoceros,
buffalo, swamp deer, leopards, and tigers were numerous,
and a few gaur (bison) were also occasionally to be
met. When I recall those days with all their happy
recollections, it sometimes seems as if it must have
been a dream, for where could any man have had better
opportunities for shooting? Then, again, there were many
right good fellows, who lived, it is true, considerable dis-
tances apart; but what is distance in such countries?
Everyone helped his neighbour, and ponies, servants, and
traps were all at one’s disposal whenever wanted. Jim
Stevenson, and Burrowes of Halmirah; and Cambridge
of Hautely Estate, kept almost open house, and so it was
with many others. Captain (now Colonel) Malcolm Gray,
the Deputy Commissioner, was fortunately a sportsman and
always ready to help with his rifle.

I made a fairly good polo ground at Golaghat, and twice
a week had out the British and Native Non-commissioned
officers who could ride, for a game, and assisted by neigh-
bouring planters and an occasional visitor, the polo ball was
kept rolling regularly.

Early this spring I had a visit from my parson brother,
who was then stationed in Kamptee, in the Central Provinces,
and came up for some shooting. Unfortunately it was too
early in the year and the high grass had not been burnt, so
he got little sport, but it was very enjoyable having him
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with me. During the time he was there an incident
occurred which forcibly illustrates the strange adventures
one frequently experienced in that, then comparatively un-
known, part of India. As he was not accustomed to riding the
long distances, which had become child’s play to me, and yet
wished to accompany me from Golaghat to Kohima, in the
Naga Hills, through the Namba Forest, a distance of a
hundred miles, I arranged to do the journey in three stages,
and accordingly sent on supplies, etc. These were carried
in a very light hospital dandy, and I had picked men
selected, who received double wages for their work. The
first stage was covered without mishap, but the second day,
whilst we were riding alongside the dandy, first one and then
two men said they felt ill and could go no farther.  Shortly
afterwards one of them began to roll on the ground and to
show symptoms of cholera. Night was coming on, and we
still had some miles to travel before we reached our camp
ground, and we had no medicines, but instead poured brandy
down the man’s throat. As is the way with natives, the others
lost their heads, and said their last hour had come, and that
they would be eaten by tigers in the forest, and nothing we
could do would persuade them to make an effort. The unfor-
tunate man, who was by this time dangerously ill, kept up a
long wail, and asked us not to leave him on the road. What
a strange race ! as if we should think of doing such a thing.
There was only one means of saving his life and that was to
get him into camp somehow, so we removed our small stock
of food, and placing it on the head of the only available man,
and putting the. sick man inside, my brother and I shouldered
the lumbering dandy and finished the journey. Our
shoulders were peeled and our backs ached for days after-
wards, but we brought the man safely in, and never fail to
have a laugh when we recall how we were let in.

In 1886 I had a splendid week’s sport along the banks of
the Brahmaputra. I had fifteen elephants with me and had
arranged everything as far as I could. My first morning I
came on two swamp-deer in a long bheel, where the grass
never grows higher than a foot or two, and as I had shot
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very few at that time I determined to dismount from the
elephant and get up close to them. The grass all round me
was some fifteen to twenty feet high, but by crawling along
the rhino and buffalo paths, which are in fact regular tunnels
through the dense undergrowth, I got to within sixty yards
and could see them browsing, and was about to fire, when I
spotted a fine bull buffalo feeding quietly in the open about
seventy yards to my left. I had only a 500 express with me,
having left my double 8-bore in the howdah; however, I
fired both barrels and hit him in the face, one bullet shatter-
ing his jaw. It was a damp morning and not a breath of
wind, hence the smoke hung; he saw the smoke and
instantly charged in my direction. Taking to my heels I
ran as fast as I could move through the tunnels, and in the
direction where I had left the elephant; but Buff was too
quick for me, and seeing I could not get away before he was
on me, I hurled myself into the tall grass and tried to reload,
but before I could get in a cartridge he was within a few
paces and I thought it was all up with me, when he suddenly
stopped, and 1 dared not move lest he should hear me. He
gave two or three furious snorts which were terrifying,
and then charged away to his left and again pulled up.
But meantime I was up and off in search of the elephant, and
was overjoyed to see the howdah towering above the jungle.
I shouted as loud as I could to the mahout to make the
elephant sit down, and leaping as I never did in my life,
managed to crawl into the seat. None too soon either, for
the buffalo, hearing the noise, was in full chase. The
elephant was on her legs again in an instant and faced round.
Crash | came my infuriated foe into her, and for a moment I
could neither fire nor see anything, but recovering I put two
8-bore bullets into his back, and Maggie the elephant stood
splendidly.

The buffalo did not fall, but stood paralysed, and after
some little time we managed to get near enough for me to
see him plainly, when another bullet through his neck
finished him.

A couple of days later, just after I had left camp, we

F
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crossed a bheel (swamp), and I saw a crow sitting on what
I took to be a black stump sticking out of the water ; how-
ever, as | approached it began to move, and up rose a
rhinoceros. The bird had been sitting on its horn, which
was just visible ; it was, however, too far for me to get a
shot at. I saw seven rhino that day.

Almost my last day’s leave I saw a sight that seldom falls
to the lot of anyone to witness, and I will relate it in full.
Moving through the eternal sea of tall grass, I came on
a rhinoceros standing in a comparatively open bit of ground
with his head low in the attitude of listening. Firing two
barrels from my trusty 8-bore at his head, I was delighted to
see him sink on his knees, as I fondly imagined to rise no
more ; but the mahout for some reason lost his head and
turned sharp round, and it was several seconds before I
could look back again, when, to my surprise, the rhino had
vanished. However, I knew he was badly hit, and followed
his tracks. For two or three hours I kept on the blood -
trails, but still he managed to keep ahead of me, and when
darkness set in I had to give it up. As I turned towards
my camp I felt desperately disappointed, but determined to
be after him at dawn next morning. Before daylight I had
started, and about nine o’clock saw tracks of fresh blood ;
I had not proceeded far when I heard a peculiar moaning
noise on the right, and halted the elephant. Whilst listen-
ing 1 was startled by the roar of a tiger, followed again by
the same moan I had first heard, and then a succession of
angry growls. Turning in the direction of the sounds,
we moved on 150 yards, when I could just see the top of
the high grass about 50 yards ahead swaying as if shaken
by some big beast. Again we halted, but when I once more
motioned the mahout to advance, he absolutely refused to
do so. This is always one of the most annoying things in
shooting off elephants, and unless you have a thoroughly
trained and plucky driver you must submit to it, for he is
absolute master of the animal’s movements, and it is of no
use losing your temper, though I fear I have very often
done so. Minutes passed, and still the noise continued, and
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I perceived that the beast, or beasts, whatever they might
be, evidently had no idea of our presence. Eventually
yielding to alterndfte coaxing and threats, the mahout gave
a low cry of ‘“Allah!” and my tusker, ‘‘ Payne,” who was
quite as excited by this time as I was, rushed forward with
a trumpet, and in another instant we were within ten yards
of the turmoil. There, in a beaten down space of some
fifteen square yards, was a rhino, half lying, half standing,
covered with blood, and engaged in deadly combat with
two tigers, who were endeavouring to kill him. It was all
the work of a few seconds, but I can still see them all three.
One tiger had his neck fearfully lacerated, evidently by
the rhino’s teeth; the other was also covered with blood,
and the rhino himself was dreadfully mangled, every soft
portion of him having been torn by his angry antagonists.
It was a gruesome sight, and even the elephant stood stock
still as if admiring this struggle between the savage beasts
in nature’s wildest realms.

It takes long to tell, but was all too short in reality,
and in any case, whatever had to be done must perforce
be done quickly; so bringing the double Greener to
my shoulder, I fired the right barrel at the tiger on my
right, just grazing his neck, and as I did so the other
sprang past my elephant; he could only have been
five yards from me, but I grieve to own that I missed
him clean. The pace was tremendous, and I was very
excited, and, yes, sad to say, I had missed or lost both
tigers, and just when they seemed in my clutches. Such is
life! If I live to shoot fifty more tigers, the grief of losing
those two will still remain. However, there was my rhino
to be tackled, and although he had already had a hard tussle
for life, he was game to the end, and, springing to his feet,
prepared to charge me. A bullet in his head finished his
existence.

Next day I had to return to work, and rode in twenty
miles on an elephant. If you care for jungle scenes and can
appreciate the holy calm that reigns therein, you can hardly
do so better than off the back of a hatee; in the first place he
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moves so quietly ; no footfall is heard ; and then you are so
well raised above everything that you not only get a long
view, but at any moment may come on wild animals, who
will seldom run from you if they are accustomed to seeing
wild elephants in their haunts, until you are quite close up
to them. Nothing alters the course you are steering ; at one
moment you force your way through almost impenetrable
creepers and undergrowth, then down a horribly dangerous-
looking bank, and at the bottom of it you plunge into eight
or ten feet of water; then the opposite bank must be
climbed, and the huge beast gets up it somehow; it is
nervous work at first, but one soon gets to know the mar-
vellous power of an elephant to overcome almost any ob-
staclee. Meantime you are comfortably seated, and can
understand the words of the Psalmist, ¢ Wonderful are Thy
works.” Yes, wonderful indeed ! for cast your eyes away to
the north, across the majestic waters of the great Brahma-
putra (the Son of God), and behold a scene unequalled in the
world ; hundreds on hundreds of giant peaks white with
eternal snow; dark valleys, cold and grey; a sky so clear
and blue that it seems almost too beautiful to be real; and
you are looking on the Himalayas, the most stupendous of
the works of creation on this planet. It is all like a passing
dream, and as the memory wanders back and passes in
review the scenes of many lands, you come to the conclusion
that few, if any, can surpass in majesty the panorama now
before you.

The life in Assam was one to keep a man fit and strong ;
thousands of miles did I ride through those forests, a hun-
dred miles in a day appearing as nothing when once I got
to know the ponies and the roads; and at the end of a two-
hundred-mile ride in seventy-two hours I have dined out and
sat up late. This proves the climate to be not so bad as some
would paint it. The truth is that in all tropical countries
the secret of health is exercise; I go so far as to say if a man
will only go to bed fatigued, and frequently even dead tired,
he will rise fitter next morning than his neighbour, who
perhaps only takes sufficient exercise to keep himself alive. If
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you lie down because you can no longer keep awake, you will
at once go into a sound sleep, and even though it may be
hot and sultry, nature demands a certain amount of absolute
rest for the body, and before you again wake you have put
in more sound sleep than if you had lain down simply
because it was a certain hour of the night. Of course, all
this is supposing you have the bodily strength to endure
fatigue ; but my argument is that, if men will only try the
recipe, their strength will at least not be less than it naturally
is, but will increase. It is not so often the constitution that
is at fault as the lack of energy to keep the flesh subservient
to the spirit.

The tropics are not places to which many people go to
recruit their health, but even in the most unhealthy parts of
West Africa I have found that the observance of three simple
rules will enable you to withstand any climate ; he who will
try them will, I feel sure, not have cause to regret it. First,
never let a day pass without taking as much physical exer-
cise as you can endure. Secondly, never keep on wet
clothes a moment longer than you are absolutely obliged
to ; and lastly, whatever you may have to dispense with, hold
fast to your mosquito curtain, and never be without it.
The first rule I never neglected ; the second I have carried
out in every land; and the last I have rigidly observed,
whether I have had a bed to sleep on or only the damp
ground, often and oft without any kind of shelter, 'mid rain
and storms; still in my haversack, whatever else there may
or may not have been, a mosquito net was always to be
found. I never had a day’s fever in West Africa, and this
last precaution had not a little to say to it.



CHAPTER VI
1886-1887

THE BURMESE FRONTIER EXPEDITION—MUNIPORE—TUMMOO—THE KUBO
VALLEY—THE LOKCHAO RIVER—CAPTURE OF CHUNYONE—THE
CHINDWIN RIVER—END OF THE EXPEDITION—RETURN TO ASSAM

HE healthy and interesting life at Golaghat was suddenly
ended by the joyful intelligence that I was once again
to proceed on active service ; this time to Burmah ; a service
in which activity was to be put to the severest test. The
Eastern Frontier District was then commanded by Brigadier-
General John J. H. Gordon, c.B., and the headquarters were
then, as now, at Shillong. It would be presumptuous for
me to offer any remarks on my General, but this much, at
least, I may record, that at his hands I received every
possible kindness and consideration. It was a sine qud non
that you must work honestly and hard under his command,
but the officer or man who did this, and never tried to shirk
his duty, could find no better commander or friend than the
General under whose orders I was about to start on my
fourth campaign.

From Golaghat to Kohima, the capital of the Naga Hills
district, is one hundred miles; here was quartered a regi-
ment of Gurkhas. The route to it led through the Namba
Forest, which I have already described.

Leaving Kohima you gradually descend over what then
was an exceedingly bad and unbridged mountain track, into
the valley of Munipore, a distance of ninety-five miles. At
Munipore was a detachment of the 4th Bengal Infantry,
forming the escort of the Political Agent, and portions of the
42nd and 44th Gurkhas.

The state of Munipore was semi-independent, and at that
time friendly to us, and assisted us in a perfunctory manner
with some of their irregular Infantry, and in a very small
way with food supplies.

From Munipore you march during the rainy season over
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roads raised above the level of the endless swamps and rice
fields ; these means of communication are, after heavy rain,
of the most impossible description. The material of which
they are constructed is glutinous mud, with here and there
sufficient twigs or branches, cast promiscuously over the
surface, to trip you up or upset your pony. Swift-running
rivers are met with just often enough to delay thoroughly
any kind of Transport you may possess, and, as if determined
to fill up the cup of discomfort, every magnate or head of a
village who happens to be the proud possessor of an elephant
invariably drives it along the roads, to the admiration of his
fellow-countrymen and the distraction of the unfortunate
European who may be toilsomely plodding over them.
Twenty miles of this, and beyond the now historic village of
Thobal you come to Pullel, at the foot of the hills, and
rapidly ascend and descend with wearying repetition the
broken mountains and valleys which lie between Munipore
and Burmabh, till you find yourself on the Burmese frontiers;
and at the sixty-fourth mile from Munipore you arrive at the
town of Tummoo, where you are made aware by the
‘‘sunshine” (when there is any) ‘‘and the palm trees and
the tinkly temple bells” that you are indeed on ‘‘the road to
Mandalay.”

Although it is hardly correct to say I was going to
Mandalay, I belonged to one of the many columns which
were at that time scouring the country of the erstwhile
monarch, Thebaw. From Golaghat to Tummoo then, a
distance of 258 miles, was my transport charge, and for
160 of these I was solely responsible to my General. Only
those who have held similar appointments in similar coun-
tries will appreciate what this means, especially as operations
only began with the advent of the monsoon rains, which,
while they last, are more or less continuous and incessant
in that part of the world. However, this was no time for
thinking of difficulties, nor was General Gordon the man
who ever let them stand in his way, and so when I had paid him
a visit at Shillong and received his instructions, I felt that
half the obstacles had already vanished ; and encouraged by
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the letters he frequently wrote me, I and the few European
subordinates attached to the department soon learned to
consider ourselves fortunate; and the slippery hill tracks
and the hopelessly awful roads all came in in the day’s work,
which was every now and again further brightened by a short
telegram of congratulations from the headquarters office at
Shillong. The most trying toil becomes a pleasure under
such circumstances.

I will shortly describe the causes which led to the forma-
tion of the Field Force now about to operate in the Kubo
Valley. This portion of Burmah lies west of the River
Chindwin, which, flowing in a south-easterly direction,
eventually joins the Irrawaddy; it embraces the country
somewhat north of the twenty-third parallel of latitude, and
was hemmed in on the west by the Chin Lushai tribes and
the semi-independent State of Munipore. Owing to the vast
military operations then taking place throughout Burmah,
the Kubo Valley offered a safe retreat to many malcontents,
and being situated away on the extreme west and having no
permanent garrison of troops, became a happy hunting
ground for any leader who might choose to make it so. At
the southern end of the valley stood the town of Kendat, on
the Chindwin; and on the 11th May, 1886, Major Trotter,
the Political Agent at Munipore, with an escort of one
hundred men of the 4th Bengal Infantry, left Tummoo to
proceed there. It was apparently believed from such
political information as was available that the people of the
Kubo Valley were not ill disposed to us, and that the march
would be unopposed. However, the day after leaving
Tummoo, Trotter was attacked by a large body of the
enemy, and himself mortally wounded, and Major Hailes
was obliged to retire on Tummoo. Reinforcements of the
42nd Gurkhas from Kohima, under Captain Stevens, were
hurried down, and on the 1gth of June a second column
moved out to attack the Burmese, who had taken up a posi-
tion at Chunyone, three miles from the town, and defended
it with a stout stockade. Notwithstanding the gallant
behaviour of the little Gurkhas, who at one time actually
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got up to the timbers and attempted to cut away the canes
and creepers which bound them, the attack failed. Major
Hailes was dangerously wounded, and the Column again
retired to Tummoo, whilst the rebels not only increased in
numbers, but greatly strengthened and enlarged their
defences.

Tummoo thus became an isolated post on the Frontier,
entirely cut off from all communications with the Army
operating in Burmah, and dependent for its troops, supplies,
and food on a long line of communication 258 miles from
Golaghat, which was itself twenty miles from the River
Brahmaputra and the Port of landing ; making in all a total
of 278 miles. Along this route local supplies were practi-
cally nil, as even in Munipore itself rice was almost the sole
available food, and the Bengal sepoys could not live on it.
To add to the difficulties of the situation sickness in all its
tropical forms was raging in Tummoo; Europeans and
natives alike were laid low, and the Munipore Durbar,
alarmed by the constant passage of troops and Transport
through the country, were ever placing all kinds of
hindrances in our way.

At the end of May I left Golaghat with every available
Transport animal laden with supplies, ammunition, etc., and
began the toilsome march through the Namba Forest.
When wrapped in rain and mist you move on day after day
through endless jungles, the feeling of depression grows
strong, and when an occasional break in the weather, with
a few hours, maybe, of sunshine and brightness comes, it is
in truth something to be truly thankful for. It was so with
me when, having passed Kohima, I arrived near the Muni-
pore Frontier post of Mao Thana; though perched on the
top of mountains 6,000 feet high, the clouds and fog had
for days concealed everything from view, and now the mists
suddenly rolled away like a retreating tide; the sun came
out in full splendour; a cool breeze sprang up from the
north, and a magnificent view unfolded itself. On every
side stretched the glorious mountains; down every valley
thundered the swollen streams; from every rock and tree
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fell the crystal beads gathered from the moisture. Birds
and beasts alike appeared to revel in the change; the wily
Naga left his smoky hut, and taking up a coign of vantage,
listlessly watched the long string of animals as they passed ;
no doubt thinking foolish, indeed, was the incomprehensible
white man who chose to walk abroad in such a country at
such a time of year. The muleteers whipped off their
coats, and most of their other garments, and cast them on
the saddles or swung them in the wind, eager to avail them-
selves of their only opportunity of having a dry change.

All nature seemed anxious to give us a helping hand as
we entered the village, and even the Maharaja’s guard,
which had been sent to meet us, summoned sufficient energy
to turn out as smartly as it was capable of doing, and
presenting arms in its own prehistoric fashion. The village
fowl and biscuits, washed down with some whisky and
water, seemed as good as any club dinner that day, and
one’s thoughts summed up might be best expressed in a few
words—¢‘It is good enough to go through anything for
such an hour.” At times like these, however small may be
the task a man is called upon to perform, it is surely one of
life’s greatest pleasures to feel that there may be people in
distant lands who, unknown to you, are watching your
career. This has been my experience, and one of my best
rewards.

A few days later we reached the camp at Sengmai, the last
halt before entering Imphal, the capital of Munipore.
I climbed on to the highest peak and looked down on the
great plain, dotted with villages and covered with fields of
rice and corn; the entire valley seemed a sheet of water,
and in fact practically was so. With a glass I could
distinguish the Fort and Maharaja’s palace, and beyond, to
the east, rose the mountains which must be traversed for
over sixty miles before you descend into Burmah. 1 little
dreamed then that from the selfsame hill I should, five years
later, be looking on the same scene, but with a lurid light
cast over it by the devouring flames from the doomed
palaces and buildings. Yet in truth this is exactly what
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happened, for in 1891, when I again visited Munipore, it
was as foe, not friend, and the flames which lit the Royal
residences and the magazines the night before we entered
Imphal were lighted by the people themselves, rather than
that they should fall into the hands of the avenging soldiers
of the Queen.

The day I arrived at Munipore was a gloomy one, indeed ;
the Residency had been turned into a hospital (five years
later it was again a hospital for a few hours whilst it was
bombarded by the Munipuris, and then abandoned by our
defeated troops); Major Trotter was dying of the wound
received near Tummoo ; Major Hailes was crippled from the
same cause, and a Subaltern of the 4th Bengal Infantry, who
died shortly after, and other officers, occupied all the avail-
able rooms.

I took up my quarters in a hut on the duck-pond in the
Residency grounds; the floor was only mud and saturated
with water, but for months that had to do for the Head office
of the Transport. As the General afterwards wrote, ‘‘ the
difficulties seem appalling,” and a former General had
pronounced the Munipore-Tummoo route as impossible to
send troops over. However, the troops were now fast
coming, and they must be got over and that soon. The
enemy could no longer be permitted to build fortifications
within three miles of our only Post in the Kubo Valley and
defy us, as they were then doing.

It may not be uninteresting to describe shortly the march
of the first convoy from Imphal to Tummoo. It consisted
of mules, ponies and elephants, and the first two days we
marched along the raised roads I have already described.
The third day’s march was from Pullel to a place called
Aimole, perched on the top of a steep hill. In the first mile
it was necessary to cross over a quicksand, through which
only after immense exertions was it possible to get the ponies
and mules; loads fell off at every few yards; the poor
beasts floundered and struggled gamely till victory at last
rewarded our efforts; the elephants had to cross over a
low, rocky spur, as it was unsafe to risk them in the bogs.
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Emerged from this slough of despond you found yourself
at the bottom of a steep zigzag path, which wound away
through trees and scrub.

This path was so slippery that neither man nor beast could
climb it without falling, and we had no axes or tools of any
kind to improve it, so after exhausting our ingenuity I
ordered the elephants to be taken up first. By the aid of
the marvellous powers with which they are endowed, these
huge animals toiled up steadily ; now using a tree to assist
them, again by sheer force tearing away a rock or root and
pushing themselves with their monstrous hind legs on to a
ledge, but ever slowly, but surely ascending ; one followed
another until at last they had made a rude sort of fish ladder
up the slimy hill.

Now comes the turn of the smaller quadrupeds, and by
degrees one after another, after hours of labour patiently
borne, the last load has reached the top and we cry halt! It
is still raining pitilessly and for shelter there is but one small
grass hut; that is occupied by the precious rations of flour
and a few European and hospital necessaries. No peace for
the Transport followers yet! the mules must be tethered ;
there is no grain to give them, hence grass must be cut; and
that is scarce where trees are plentiful. How well those
excellent Punjab drivers know what discipline means; dead
beat, no food since morning, and night fast coming on, but
no matter to them, they have eaten the Sirkar’s (Govern-
ment’s) salt and they will do their duty. And so after
another hour’s work, the grass lies before the mules; the
elephants return laden with such branches and rushes as
can be had; the saddles are piled up and covered with
tarpaulins ; the roll is called, and the faithful servant of
the State seats himself down under the nearest tree; his
only shelter the open sky above ; his only food a couple of
pounds of flour; his cooking-pots and other belongings
would go into the pockets of a shooting-coat; and having
quickly cooked and consumed his humble meal, he rolls
himself up in a wet blanket which hourly grows more
soaked from the incessant rain, mutters a few words in
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praise of his Creator, and sleeps as only those who have a
clear conscience of duty well performed can do.

The dawn has not shown signs of breaking when he is
astir again; he swallows a few mouthfuls of the overnight
cold and sordid-looking chupatties (half-cooked dough
cakes), and is ready to do another day’s duty for the
Sovereign he serves.

Often at night have I walked round the sleeping Transport
camp in Indian campaigns and read a lesson in real life;
dull must be the man who cannot appreciate its meaning.
Hundreds, often thousands, of miles from their own homes,
with no great object to be gained, and frequently amid every
form of discomfort, the Transport followers of the Army of
India give their best years and services to the British
Government.

Of them it may well be said :—

¢ These were not led by anger, nor yet by lust made bold,
Renown they thought above them, nor did they thirst for gold,

To them their leader’s signal was as the voice of God,
Unmoved and uncomplaining the path he showed they trod.”

I have seen the dark followers of another great European
Power in the Field and have now no difficulty in under-
standing why England is a great colonising nation. It is
inborn in our race. Of course it is not to be supposed that
the above description of a march is an everyday occurrence ;
far from it. In Afghanistan, on the North-West Frontiers of
India, in the Soudan I have known the follower under far
different circumstances, when his rations were regular and
ample, his clothing and housing all that could be expected
on active service, and his duties not excessive; but I am
writing of a particular campaign and a particular country of
which I have seen a great deal, and there he had unsur-
passed hardships; but his willingness is the same in all lands,
and with British officers he prides himself he can go any-
where and do anything ; and it is not an idle boast.

The next day’s march was more or less a repetition of the
first, varied by frequent descents, which if anything were
rather more trying than the climbs. Darkness found us on
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the narrow ridge of a hill with very precipitous sides, and
although everything was soaking wet, we could find no
water nor dare anyone attempt to move about, so black was
the night. I had found it impossible to carry a tent beyond
Aimole ; so Commander and men all lay down in the open,
and hungry, for it was too much trouble to bother about
cooking a meal under such conditions. A few mules and
ponies were killed by falling over precipices during the two
following days ; one of them, unfortunately for me, with my
small personal supply of medical comforts.

The sixth day’s marching brought us to the Lokchao
River, or a distance of only something over forty miles from
Munipore ; the last few of these through dense bamboo
jungles which played havoc with the loads.

We made a halt here of a day, as the animals were all
done up and there were many girth and saddle galls to be
attended to. The same story ; rain and storm all night; but
next day the sun appeared, and for the first time for some
days I bethought me of a bath, and that in real running
water.

Those who know the sensation of being eaten by mos-
quitoes may form some feeble idea of what a bath in that
river meant! there were no mosquitoes, but within five
minutes I was almost done to death by sand-flies; dashing
out of the water and shouting to my servant I managed to
get on some garments whilst he violently whipped me with
a towel to keep off the torments ; when it came to putting on
my boots, however, I was confronted with a second enemy,
for I had been badly bitten by leeches the previous night,
and my feet had become so swollen and sore they would not
get into the boots. My companion, an officer in the 42nd
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